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About this report

Our Annual Report follows best practice in
corporate governance by reporting our
performance against strategic objectives
and national targets, and presenting
information about our services and financial
performance transparently and honestly.
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Foreward by Chairman
I’m pleased to introduce the fifth Annual Report
for Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust which
covers our performance during 2014/15.
The Trust performed very well throughout the
year - the result of hard work and determination
from our staff.
As you will see later in this report we
implemented a number of developments
throughout 2014/15. Of particular note was
the roll out of Rapid Response and discharge
services across Watford and Three Rivers,
HomeFirst in North Herts, the Family Nurse
Partnership in Watford and an Early Supported
Discharge Team for patients who have had
a stroke.
Other developments included the integration
of palliative care services into our community
teams and the introduction of seven-day
therapies in our hospitals. Parents of babies
with Tongue Tie in East and North Hertfordshire
can now be referred to hospital by their health
visitor, rather than having to go via their GP
thanks to additional staff training.
Working with partners was a key objective of
the Trust throughout 2014/15, with the Board
committed to strengthening ties during 2015/16.
The Trust continues to work very closely with
health and social care organisations, service
users and with voluntary, community and
private sector organisations. This has enabled
staff to improve their service provision to
better meet the needs of individuals.
The Five Year Forward View, published by NHS
England last year, describes changes to service
provision, with a greater focus on preventive
services and on more provision of services in
primary care and the community.

This builds on the ambitions of The Better
Care Fund (BCF) by combining some existing
funding to create a local single budget to
encourage the NHS and local councils to work
more closely together around people, placing
their wellbeing as the focus of health and care
services. In Hertfordshire the focus continues
on ensuring people receive the right care, at
the right time, in the right place. This means
people will be cared for in their home when
appropriate rather than in hospital, which
should reduce hospital stays.
The Secretary of State for Health recently said
his biggest priority now is to transform care
outside hospitals, adding we need a step
change in services offered through GP surgeries,
community care and social care.
It is my priority, and that of my Board colleagues,
to support the local health and social care
system in realising these ambitions. By making
our services more flexible and able to cope
with increasing demand and by introducing
new, innovative treatments we will improve
care for people in the community.
As an organisation based in the community,
with existing links to a large range of partners
in the statutory and voluntary sectors,
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is best
placed to support patients and carers as the
NHS evolves and its cooperative method of
working with other providers makes it ideally
suited to become a multi-speciality community
provider.
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The demand on the NHS to become more
efficient also means that we cannot deliver
services the way we have done in the past.
We need to provide specialist services close
to, or even in, people’s homes, educate and
enable people to better maintain their health,
wellbeing and independence.
In the latter months of 2014/15, the Care
Quality Commission carried out a planned
inspection of all our services. Quality is at the
heart of everything we do. The inspectors
said: “All staff we saw and spoke with
demonstrated commitment to the delivery
of safe, effective and caring treatment.
We observed staff responding to patients,
their families and carers with kindness,
compassion and in a professional manner.”
That is nothing less than we expect from our
staff. Despite a huge amount of good practice
and observations of care being provided with
dignity and respect, the overall rating for
the Trust (Requires Improvement) was a
disappointment to the Board and our staff.
Work is already well underway to make the
minor changes needed to move the CQC
rating to Good.
Last year we saw more than 1.8 million
patients across Hertfordshire and West Essex.
We believe the overwhelming majority of
their care was as it should be and on many
occasions outstanding. But there have been
occasions where this has not been the case
and we believe that we must get it right all of
the time, not just most of the time. To those
who gave feedback on our care positive and
negative, we say thank you.
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To all of our patients, partners and stakeholders
we want to take this opportunity to pledge our
continued determination to drive improvements
in care, about which we remain proud and
passionate.
Finally, I am pleased to report that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust has been recognised by
a Combined Health Service Journal and Nursing
Times list in July 2015 as being one of the
top 120 NHS organisations to work for in the
Country! This is a commendable achievement,
especially given that there are nearly five
hundred NHS commissioning and providing
organisations, nationally.
This also links to the fact that I and my Board
colleagues never cease to be impressed by the
dedication, commitment , compassion and hard
work from our staff, especially when services
are facing so many pressures. To all of our
staff, we say a big thank you.

Declan O’Farrell
Chairman
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Service Portfolio
In the Strategic Report we provide an overview of the Trust and strategic issues and performance
in 2014/15 relating to quality of care, our operational services and finance. We also look at plans
for the future, a profile of our staff, strategic risks facing the Trust and our plans for sustainability.

ADULT CORE COMMUNITY SERVICES (EAST AND NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE)
• Bladder and Bowel Care Service
• End of Life and Lymphoedema Services
• Foot Health Service
• HomeFirst (E&N)
• Integrated Community Teams
• Integrated Discharge Team (E&N)
• Intermediate Care Bed-Bases
(Community Hospitals)
• Leg Ulcer Services

• Minor Injuries Unit
• Neurological and Wheelchair Services
(including Specialist Seating and electric
indoor and outdoor Wheelchair Services moved from West core from 1 June 2014)
• Neurological Bed-Bases
• Respiratory Service
• Skin Health Services

ADULT CORE COMMUNITY SERVICES (WEST HERTFORDSHIRE)
• Acute Therapies Service
• Cardiology Services (including Cardiac
Rehabilitation and Heart Failure)
• Chronic Fatigue and Pain Management Service
• Diabetes Community Service
• Diabetic Retinopathy Service
• HomeFirst Hertsmere
• Integrated Community Teams
• Integrated Discharge Team (West)
• Intermediate Care Bed-Bases
(Community Hospitals)

• Musculoskeletal Services (including
Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy)
• Nutrition and Dietetics Service
• Prison Healthcare Services (HMP The Mount)
• Rapid Response Team
• Respiratory Service (service decommissioned
October 2014)
• Specialist Palliative Care
• Speech & Language Service

CHILDREN AND
YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES

Where provided

• Audiology Service
• Challenging Behaviour Psychology Service
• Children’s Eye Services
• Child Health Service
• Child’s Community Nursing
• Nascot Lawn Respite Care
• Specialist Nurse Co-ordinators (Transition
and Sickle Cell)
• Special School Nursing Service
• Specialist Diabetes Nursing Service
• Consultant Nurse for Children with
Complex Health Needs
• Continuing Care Service
• Community Medical Service
• Dental Services
• Family Nurse Partnership

West Hertfordshire
Countywide
West Hertfordshire
Countywide
West Hertfordshire and West Essex
West Hertfordshire
West Hertfordshire

• Health Visiting and School Nursing Services
• Newborn Hearing Screening Service
• Occupational Therapy Service
• Physiotherapy Service
• Sexual Health and Family Planning Services
(service decommissioned on 1 April 2015)
• Speech and Language Therapy Service
• Step2 Service
• Sure Start Children’s Centres
(service decommissioned on 1 April 2015)

West Hertfordshire
West Hertfordshire
West Hertfordshire
West Hertfordshire
West Hertfordshire and West Essex
Countywide
Stevenage, Letchworth, Welwyn Garden City
and Hatfield
Countywide
West Hertfordshire
Countywide and West Essex
Countywide and West Essex
East and North Hertfordshire
Countywide and West Essex
Countywide
St Albans and Duckling Green,
Sawbridgeworth
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Strategic report
The Trust and its strategy

The history of the Trust
The Trust was established on 1 November 2010 by virtue of Statutory
Instrument 2010 No. 2464 made under the National Health Service
Act 2006. Prior to this it was the “provider services arm” of the then
East and North Hertfordshire and West Hertfordshire Primary Care Trusts.
The Trust’s principal activities
The Trust had an income of £140m during 2014/15 and employed
around 3,000 staff. Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) is
the principal provider of community-based healthcare to the 1.1m
residents of Hertfordshire and, since April 2012, 68,000 children in
West Essex. The Trust provides community-based services for adults
and older people, children and young people, and a range of
specialist care services. We had around two million contacts with
people during the course of the year and were dealing with people
from before birth until death.
The Trust operates its services through three business units and the
services they provide are set out in the Service Portfolio (page 5).
The Trust’s Vision, Values and Strategic Objectives
In 2014/15 the Board re-affirmed the Trust’s Vision, Values and
Strategic Objectives as follows:
Our Vision
We will maintain and improve the health and wellbeing of the
people of Hertfordshire and other areas served by the Trust.
Our Values
This vision is underpinned by the Trust’s Values, which complement
the NHS Constitution, supporting patients’ rights and in particular
the need to treat patients with dignity and respect:
Care
Respect
Quality
Confidence
Improvement

We put patients at the heart of everything we do
We treat people with dignity and respect
We strive for excellence and effectiveness at all times
We do what we say we will do
We will improve through continuous learning
and innovation
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Strategic report
Objectives and improvements

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
To support the Vision and Values, HCT has
developed five strategic objectives:

4 We will use resources efficiently to enhance
our ability to improve services.

1 We will support the people we serve to
manage their own health and wellbeing.

5 We will develop the organisational capacity
to deliver our vision and objectives.

2 We will improve clinical outcomes and
enhance patient safety.
3 We will support the substantial expansion of
community services through the delivery of
excellent core services for adults and children
and the development of ambulatory services.

HIGH VALUE HEALTHCARE AND QUALITY IMPROVEMENT
As a Trust we are also committed to delivering
‘High Value Healthcare’:
• Excellent clinical outcomes
• An outstanding patient experience

These support the quality principles set out
by the National Quality Board, as well as
encompassing the need to deliver ever more
efficient and cost effective services. We will use
these principles to drive the focus of our staff,
frame a single approach to quality and efficiency,
and demonstrate the value we deliver.

• Consistent and improving patient safety
• Highly efficient and cost-effective services

10
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Looking back
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) has
performed very well in 2014-15. This is the
product of hard work and determination over
the four and a half years since the Trust came
into existence. We were able to highlight the
progress we have made across our broad range
of services when the Care Quality Commission
came to undertake their inspection in February
of this year. It was very instructive to pause
and look at what we have achieved over four
years, not just the last year. The progress is
impressive and, as is always the case, the staff
who work for the Trust deserve great credit
for that progress.

This year has seen a considerable focus on
working effectively with partner organisations,
in services for adults and for children and
young people. In adult services we have been
working with colleagues in general practice,
mental health and social care to develop a
way of working that co-ordinates care around
people’s needs in a more joined up way.
The work in the west of Hertfordshire has
been taken forward in Watford and staff from
the different organisations are increasingly
working in a way that helps them to make
decisions jointly about people we are
working with.

The last year has shown a real consolidation
of the progress we have made. Our delivery of
services has been of a high standard at a time
when the NHS is under considerable pressure.
We have also delivered financially, which is a
marker of our rounded focus on both our
service users and the people of Britain who
contribute to the NHS through their taxes.

In our services for children and young people
we have brought occupational therapists
from the County Council into HCT to deliver
one service. We have also started to ensure
our health visitors work very closely with
children’s centres to deliver a better service.
This has started in Potters Bar and will be
extended to other areas. It is very important
that we do deliver services that are more
co-ordinated. Primarily, this will benefit the
people who need our services. It will also
support us to become more efficient.
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Service developments
While delivering core services in 2014/15, the
Trust implemented a number of service
developments:
• rolled out Rapid Response and the discharge
service across Watford and Three Rivers, and
HomeFirst in North Herts
• Integrated Palliative Care services into the
Integrated Community Teams

• integrated the Children’s Community
Occupational Therapists from Hertfordshire
County Council in October 2013, during
2014/15 the team have managed to clear
the backlog of children waiting for assessment
and no child now waits longer than the
18 week NHS target

• introduced Seven Day Therapies into the
Bed Bases

• launched 3 tier model (universal targeted
specialist) in Speech and Language Therapy
(SLT), including running two very successful
stakeholder workshops in Hertfordshire and
West Essex. As part of the model the service
has implemented drop-in clinics across
Hertfordshire and West Essex to improve
access to SLT

• implemented an Early Supported Discharge
Team for patients who have had a stroke

• HCT Dental Service was awarded a Purple
Kite Mark

• continued the implementation of the Healthy
Child Programme, including completing the
training of 82 new health visitors and
achieving the national target of having 229
Whole Time Equivalent (wte) health visitors in
post at the end of March

• developed the use of high impact pathways
for Children and Young People in West Essex
to maximise the use of appropriate health
care for a range of common conditions

• appointed a Clinical Services Manager to
lead bed based care

• implemented a Family Nurse Partnership
in Watford
• Watford Living Well Programme - a joint
programme of work with Herts County
Council and Hertfordshire Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT), to
improve services for people over 65 years
with complex needs

• improved the pathway for babies with
Tongue Tie in East and North Hertfordshire
by providing additional training to staff and
enabling direct referral from health visitors
to consultants, rather than having to go
via the GP

• established the Stand by Me Childhood
Bereavement Service in North Herts and
handed over to Trustees to run as a charity

12
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Working with our Partners
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
continued to work very closely with health
and social care organisations, service users
and with voluntary, community and private
sector organisations. This has enabled staff to
strengthen their service provision to better
meet the needs of individuals.
Building on HCT’s Model of Care for Adult
Services and the “tripartite” proposal that was
agreed with Hertfordshire Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) and
Hertfordshire County Council’s Community
Services, (which provides social care), two key
work programmes have been developed to
further progress the integration of care around
the needs of individuals and communities.
The work programme in Herts Valleys has
focused on the Watford and Three Rivers
locality working with local GPs, developing:
• a Rapid Response team which includes
physical, mental health and social care services
• a multi-agency approach to case management
In the east and north of the county three
work streams have been developed for longer
term solutions to effective care provision:

Children’s Services have also been developing
closer working arrangements with partner
agencies. Delivering an additional Family Nurse
Partnership service in Watford, transforming the
Speech and Language service and embedding
the fully integrated Children’s Occupational
Therapy service which covers both health and
County Council responsibilities.
During the winter HCT played a key role in the
health systems across Hertfordshire to ensure
that patients received an effective and safe
service. A range of additional beds were
managed in the community during that
period and HCT worked closely with the local
hospitals and with social care to provide the
most appropriate care for people who needed it.
The Integrated Community Teams have managed
well the needs of the people referred to them
who have increasingly complex needs.
Both the Integrated Care teams and the Health
Visiting teams have embarked on a programme
of strengthening their working relationships
with GPs, with all practices being offered the
opportunity to agree how local teams can
optimise the partnership working arrangements.
Closer working has been reported by HCT
teams and GPs as very beneficial.

• improving access
• seamless transition of care
• integrating care
These approaches fit with all aspects of the
HCT Adult Services Delivery Model and
demonstrating the critical role HCT services
have in making a difference to the people of
Hertfordshire. This has been evident in the
delivery of an additional HomeFirst service
in North Hertfordshire, a Rapid Response team
in Watford and Three Rivers and piloting
integrated community hub discharge teams.
These have significantly improved the joint
working with the local acute hospital trusts.
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Looking to the Future
The Five Year Forward View, published by NHS
England in 2014, describes changes to service
provision, with a greater focus on preventive
services and on more provision of services in
primary care and the community.
It proposes different forms of organisation to
deliver services in a different way. The multispeciality community provider is the model
which resonates with HCT’s strategy. We do
not envisage that this will involve any particular
changes to the form of organisations locally.
Rather, it will be a question of how we align the
skills and resources of different organisations
to meet the different needs of people in our
communities. We will then need to ensure
that we manage these teams, with people
from different organisations, well and that
governance arrangements are clear.
More important than organisational form,
however, is what people do as a consequence
of working differently, and what difference this
makes to the people who need our services.
There are two elements to the approach we
need to take. These are:
• co-ordinating the work of different agencies
around people with a broad range of needs
far more effectively than we do now
• involving service users, carers, community and
voluntary organisations in supporting people
to maintain their own health more effectively
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The demand on the NHS to become more
efficient means that we cannot deliver services
the way we have done in the past. We have to
change the “contract” that exists between the
British people and the NHS. From a professional
perspective we need to ensure that we are
clearly responding to an individual’s needs.
We also need to move to an “enablement”
philosophy being the first course of response
where people who need our services take an
enhanced responsibility for their own care and
that of their family and friends. Our staff need
to one part of the wider support network that
maintains people’s health, wellbeing and
independence.
This is quite a shift in thinking and our approach
and we will continue to work closely with the
people and communities we serve to bring
about these changes.
This will therefore be another important year
in the process of changing the face of health
and social care in Hertfordshire, moving
towards more provision of community-based
services, which meet the needs of people of
all ages with long term conditions, disabilities
and poor health.
This transformation of service provision is key
to the sustainability of the health service locally,
and HCT has a critical role to play in supporting
that change. We will be working to make sure
that we can affect the changes that need to
happen to meet the needs of our population.
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Key themes and priorities 2015 - 2016
Implementation of
service model

The principles of how we organise our services have been clearly established and
we are making changes to the way we organise and deliver services, both internally
and with partner organisations.

High Value Healthcare

High Value Healthcare is an approach which is about ensuring consistent delivery
of quality and efficiency in our services. It encompasses: who we recruit; how we
apply our values; the training and development of staff; the application of consistent
standards of practice; clinical supervision; reflective practice; governance and risk
management systems.

Self-Managing Teams

The Trust has a diverse range of services delivering across a large geography and we
are aligning leadership and management approach to give clear, delegated authority
to our teams so that they can respond to local circumstances.

Improving management To support good decision-making at all levels of the Trust we are focusing on improving
information
our delivery and use of management information.
Communication and
Engagement

We are focusing on three areas: engaging our staff in the implementation of changes
in the Trust; building our reputation as a provider of high value community services
which are responsive to needs; working with users and the public to ensure our services
are responsive to them.

Annual Report and Accounts 2014-2015
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The Trust’s performance 2014 -2015
Quality
Defining quality
The Trust has built a strong framework for
ensuring the quality of our services over the
last year. We define quality as being:

• escalation and management of issues
of concern

• excellent clinical outcomes

• identification and management of quality
related risks

• an outstanding patient experience

• “Deep Dives” into services and site visits

• consistent and improving patient safety

• the delivery of quality services as part of
Business Unit Performance Reviews

Detailed information and analysis on the Trust’s
performance and objectives in relation to the
quality and safety of our services is contained
in our Quality Account for 2014/15.

• the Quality Governance Framework and
Memorandum
• internal audits and clinical audits

The Quality Account also considers issues
which are not addressed in this report such as
the NHS Safety Thermometer, work in year on
falls prevention and Venous thromboembolism
(VTE), and meeting NICE guidance.

• staff appraisal, Continuing Professional
Development, mandatory training and
supervision

Assessment of quality

• use of the responses to patient
surveys/questionnaires, including the
national “Friends and Family” test

Quality performance and initiatives are driven
and assessed by a number of sources,
including:
Internally
• the Trust’s Quality, Clinical, Risk Management
and 6Cs Strategies (and associated policies)
• publication of an annual Quality Account
• reports on all aspects of quality improvement
and performance submitted to the Trust’s
Healthcare Governance Committee and Trust
Board (including incidents and complaints)
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• review of the Trust performance against the
national Safety Thermometer
• Patient Reported Outcome Measures
(PROMS)
• staff survey outcomes - national and our
own PULSE survey
• Patient Led Assessment of the Care
Environment (PLACE) assessment
• setting our own Quality Priorities
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By Commissioners, other statutory and
regulatory bodies
• quality key performance indicators agreed
in our contracts with commissioners (Plus
monitoring through regular meetings and
quality assurance visits by the commissioners)
• Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
schemes agreed with commissioners (CQUINs)
• monitoring of key national targets by the
Trust Development Authority (TDA)
• quality risk profile reports, site inspection
visits and our full Inspection by the Care
Quality Commission (CQC)
• risk management through the National
Reporting & Learning System (NRLS)

National initiatives, reports, guidance
and legality
• external, national initiatives such as the
“6Cs” for nursing. (Compassion in Practice)
• external reports, such as the report by
Sir Robert Francis into Failings at Mid
Staffordshire Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.
The Berwick Report, Clywd Hart report and
Savile Enquiry report
• the NHS Outcomes Framework
• High Quality Care For All (DH 2008)
• Equity and Excellence: Liberating the NHS
(White Paper 2010)
• new legislation, regulations or court
judgements

• accounting to the Local Authority’s Health
Scrutiny Committee

• specialist or themed reports

• NHS England national screening programme
quality assurance visits

• National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence (NICE) guidance and standards

• being monitored by Healthwatch Hertfordshire

• Suffering in Silence
(Healthwatch England 2014)
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CQUINS
The key aim of the Commissioning for Quality
and Innovation (CQUIN) framework is to
secure improvements in quality of services and
delivering better outcomes for patients whilst
also maintaining strong financial stability.

The table below summarises how the Trust
performed in relation to the number of its
CQUIN schemes agreed with its commissioners
in 2014/15. Full details of the individual schemes
are published in the Trust’s Quality Account.

The Trust will only be paid where we can
demonstrate having achieved the CQUIN
goals agreed with our commissioners. CQUIN
payments remain non-recurrent and are used
as an incentive for providers to deliver quality
and innovation improvements above the
baseline requirements set out in the national
standard contract.
Commissioners
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Total number of
agreed schemes

Number of
schemes 100%
achieved

Number of
schemes partially
achieved

Number of
schemes not
achieved

East & North Herts CCG

11

3

7

1

Herts Valleys CCG

10

5

3

2

West Essex CCG

1

1

0

0

NHS England

2

2

0

0

Total

24

11
46%

10
42%

3
12%
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Priorities
The following are the Quality Priorities we set ourselves over the past year
and how we performed.
PRIORITY 1
To demonstrate our commitment to embedding care and compassionate practice
in everything we do, through the work undertaken to deliver our 6Cs strategy.
Aim: To provide safe, effective, compassionate care, given by trained staff who
are committed to working together and communicating with patients and carers.
We will achieve this through delivery of the 6Cs strategy.
The outcomes we achieved
• We increased the number of staff who gave
the name of the Trust, the service and their
name when they answered the telephone to
82% during 2014/15 from 66% in 2013/14;
exceeding our target for a 10%
improvement

There were some targets we did not achieve.

• We reduced the number of avoidable category
2 pressure ulcers that were developed in our
care to 47, compared to 129 in 2013/14.
However, the number of avoidable category
3 and 4 pressure ulcers developed in our
care increased to 30, compared to 19 in
2013/14

• We received 33 complaints about staff
attitude, compared to 20 in 2013/14; a
65% increase. We had wanted them to
reduce by 10%

• We provided our Board with monthly safe
staffing reports for our ten community
hospitals and for Nascot Lawn, our children’s
respite care unit, against our target of
6-monthly

• We received 52 complaints about standards
of patient care, compared to 49 in 2013/14;
a slight increase of 6%. We had wanted them
to reduce by 10%

• We received 3,243 compliments about
standards of patient care compared to
4,699 in 2013/14; a 31% reduction.
We had wanted them to increase by 5%
• We did not increase our overall Family and
Friends Test net promoter score by our target
of 10% before a change in scoring came
into place in January 2015
• Fewer staff completed an annual appraisal
demonstrating the 6Cs; 82.63% compared
to 86% in 2013/14. We had wanted it to
increase by 2%

Annual Report and Accounts 2014-2015
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PRIORITY 2
To ensure patients who are at risk of dementia are referred to a cognitive
memory service or clinic to support individual best clinical outcomes and timely
carer support.
Aim: Integrated community teams across HCT trained to observe for early signs
of dementia in ‘at risk’ patients and ensure 50% of those who are identified are
signposted to a cognitive memory service or clinic.
The outcomes we achieved
By the end of the year:
• 66.7% of the patients seen by our integrated
community teams that were identified to be
at risk of undiagnosed dementia and gave
their consent, were referred via their GP to a
cognitive memory service or clinic; exceeding
our target of 50%
• 18% of patients identified to be at risk of
undiagnosed dementia did not consent to
information being shared with their GP

• 50% of the 505 clinical staff in our
integrated community teams (40.5% in East
& North Hertfordshire and 59.5% in West
Hertfordshire) were trained in the use of
the Dementia Screening Tool; meeting our
target of 50%
• 76.1% of staff in our integrated community
teams in East & North Hertfordshire and
67.9% in West Hertfordshire had received
their annual training on mental capacity,
against our target of 90%

PRIORITY 3
To demonstrate patients’ experience of care is supported through the use of timely
Mental Capacity Assessments, Best Interests Decisions and where appropriate
application for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding.
Aim: To ensure 100% of patients receive appropriate Mental Capacity Act
assessments to inform their care and 100% of appropriate Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards (DoLS) Applications are undertaken in a timely manner.
The outcomes we achieved
• From our audits of representative samples,
96% of patients in our community hospitals
who needed a mental capacity assessment
had received one, a significant improvement
from 73% in September 2014
• 100% of DOLS applications were considered
timely in the last three months of the year; a
steady improvement throughout the year.
86% of the 44 DOLS applications over the
whole year were timely
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• 79% of the 19 DOLS applied for and able
to be assessed by the Supervisory Body
were authorised
• 78.6% of the clinical staff in our community
hospitals had completed training on mental
capacity and 68.5% on DOLS, against our
targets of 90%
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PRIORITY 4
To improve the patient experience through commencement of three year
accreditation for the UNICEF baby friendly programme.
Aim: 50 % of children and families using our services report they have been
supported by health visitors and environment that has helped them to continue
with the feeding method of their choice and is baby friendly.
The outcomes we achieved
• 67% of families felt supported in an
environment that is baby friendly.
• 69.8% of families felt supported to continue
with their chosen feeding method.

• 41% of our health visitors had undertaken
the UNICEF Breastfeeding and Relationship
Building training; above our target of 20%
• 100% of the staff we identified to be our
trainers had completed their training

PRIORITY 5
To reduce the number of patients using indwelling urinary catheters and
consequently reduce the number of catheter associated urinary tract infections
(CAUTI).
Aim: Fewer than 1% of patients with urinary catheters experience an
associated infection.
The outcomes we achieved
Our nurses used the NHS Safety Thermometer
to do a monthly snap-shot audit of 17,198
patients seen in their own homes, residential
homes and our community hospitals, and
used this information to give us the incidence
of patients with catheters and those
experiencing CAUTI. On average:
• 11.23% of the patients seen had urinary
catheters; a similar proportion compared to
previous years
• Fewer of the patients seen had experienced
a CAUTI; 0.98% and below our target of 1%
• 0.34% of the patients seen had newly
acquired infections; fewer than the national
average of 0.35%

• 1,755 visits were made by our Overnight
Nursing Service (OVNS) to patients because
of catheter-related problems; a 17% increase
compared to 2013/14, and failing to achieve
our target of a 10% reduction
• On average, our staff demonstrated 98.9%
compliance with the national standards for
catheter management in our community
hospitals and 99.9% in the community setting
• 23.5% of nurses in our integrated community
teams and community hospitals were trained
in continence management and catheter
care this year; significantly below our target
of 80%
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PRIORITY 6
To ensure patient safety is maintained when directly administering medication
or when supporting patients in their own self-medication care.
Aim: All staff who deliver insulin or Intravenous (IV) therapy medicines to our
patients have been trained, are annually assessed as competent and this is
recorded through the appraisal process and registered with Learning and
Development. Reducing the number of medication incidents resulting in harm
requiring further medical intervention by 10%.
The outcomes we achieved
• 52.4% reduction in medication incidents
that resulted in harm; significantly exceeding
our target of 10%
• A higher proportion of medication incidents
reported that resulted in no harm, increasing
our opportunity for learning from prevented
incidents; 73% in 2014/15 compared to
43% in 2013/14
• Two medication incidents were investigated
as serious incidents

• 23% of nurses in our integrated community
teams and community hospitals received
training and were assessed as competent to
administer insulin during 2014/15; fewer
than our target of 50%
• 48% of nurses in our integrated community
teams, community hospitals and children’s
services trained to administer IV therapy
received their training and were assessed as
competent during 2014/15; fewer than our
target of 60%

• No complaints were received about insulin or
IV administration

Registration with the Care Quality Commission
(CQC) and inspection
The Trust has been registered with the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) as a provider of
healthcare since establishment in 2010.
Inspection of two bed based units, Potters Bar
and Langley, were undertaken in 2014. Initial
improvement actions were required for Potters
Bar Community Hospital to support safeguarding
of patients. Actions were undertaken to improve
staff awareness and understanding. A follow
up CQC review undertaken in November 2014
found the services at the site to be meeting the
expected standards. Langley was inspected by
the CQC in February 2014 and the report
published in April 2014 which noted the
service was meeting the standards inspected.

The CQC undertook a full inspection of the
Trust in February 2015.
The CQC inspection report was published in
July 2015. The Trust was rated overall as
“Requires Improvement” although 19 of the
criteria assessed were ranked “outstanding”
or “good” and only six fell below the
standard. As the outcome was very close to
an overall rating of “Good”, the Trust is
working with the CQC to plan a re-inspection
for late 2015 or early 2016.
The summary inspection report can be seen
on the CQC website at www.cqc.org.uk/sites/
default/files/new_reports/AAAC5457.pdf

As at March 2015, HCT was registered with the
CQC with no improvement actions.
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Patient care - listening and learning
Gathering the views and experiences of people who use our services and
using these to improve the quality of the care we provide is important to us.
We encouraged people to give us their feedback individually and collectively.
The Friends and Family Test
The Trust continued to use the national Friends
and Family Test (FFT) in all services to understand
whether patients would recommend the care
they experienced to a friend or family member.
Our Trust-wide net promoter score stayed above
target throughout the year.

During 2014/15 we also made it easier for more
people to give us their feedback at a time and
place to suit them by giving them the online
link to our surveys. More than 35,700 in all
gave us feedback about their experiences.
We worked with representatives in Healthwatch,
patients and our staff to develop a core set of
questions for inclusion in every survey in
2015/16 so that we can better benchmark our
services and demonstrate our learning and
improvements.

In July 2014 NHS England issued new guidance
which made changes to the way in which the
test is scored and presented, making it more
transparent and meaningful. We made changes
to our surveys and comments cards to make
this the first question asked and to prompt
patients to tell us what had influenced their
recommendation rating. We introduced it into
20% of our services in October 2014 and by
the end of December 2014 into all services so
that we could make it available to our patients
in its new form from 1 January 2015, in line with
the national requirement for community trusts.

Also in 2015/16 we will introduce a new easyread survey making it easier for people with
learning difficulties and children to give us
their feedback, and we will be working with
NHS England to develop a patient experience
survey to use at HMP The Mount prison.

The Friends and Family Test is used to drive
change and improve services. For example, in
June 2014 160 patients were contacted across
six services to further explore their experiences.
This resulted in actions being taken which led
to a reduction from 5.1% to 1.4% in the
number of people who would not recommend
these services.
The Friends and Family Test results from January to March 2015
January
2015

February
2015

March
2015

% of patients who would recommend (*)

97%

96%

97%

Target

90%

90%

90%

Number of responses

3047

2855

2451

* The percentage that would be extremely likely and likely to recommend
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Complaints, Compliments and PALS
HCT received a total of 239 complaints in
2014/15 compared to 185 complaints during
2013/14. This equates to 0.123 complaints per
1,000 contacts with patients.

88% of our services introduced changes in
their clinical care, administration or information
as a direct result of feedback from complaints.
Some improvements made included:

99.6% of complaints were investigated and
responded to within the timescale agreed
with the complainant. One complaint was
referred to the Parliamentary and Health
Services Ombudsman (PHSO), which is
under investigation.

• following a complaint about a foreign body
being missed in a wound when a child
presented to our Minor Injuries Unit, the
X-ray protocols have been reviewed and
staff have received additional training to
support their decision-making for such
clinical presentations

Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
received 638 enquiries in 2014/15 compared
to 341 in 2013/14. 95% were responded to
within 24-hours.
HCT received 3,243 compliments in 2014/15
compared to 4,699 in 2013/14. This equates
to 1.665 compliments per 1,000 contacts
with patients.
The top three categories of complaints and PALS
enquiries in 2014/15 compared to 2013/14 are
shown in the table on page 25 (along with %
as a percentage of total number of complaints).

• following a complaint about a mother’s
experience when attending a baby clinic,
the layout of the room has been altered to
provide more privacy and a quieter area
for discussion
• following a concern about the delay in
getting a physiotherapy appointment
following surgery, our Acute Therapies
Service is now providing patients with their
first out-patient appointment prior
to their admission
• following a complaint made by a patient
that he was not seen on arriving late for
his appointment because he could not find
anywhere to park, the Podiatry Service has
revised its appointment letters to include
information about parking available nearby
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Top three categories of complaints and PALS enquiries
Complaints

No./% No./%
2014/15 2013/14

PALS Enquiries

No./% No./%
2014/15 2013/14

Standards
of Care

52
(22%)

49
(26%)

Information about
about non-HCT Services

301
(47%)

113
(33%)

Access to Services
(including waiting
times)

44
(18%)

29
(15%)

Appointments
(dates/times)

139
(22%)

41
(12%)

Staff Attitude

33
(14%)

20
(11%)

Relaying compliments

109
(17%)

38
(11%)

Principles for Remedy
The Trust follows the six principles set down
by the Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman in ‘Principles for Remedy’
(revised April 2012).
The aim of these principles is to ensure that
instances of injustice or hardship as a result of
poor service or maladministration are redressed.

• we have a responsive Patient Advice and
Liaison Service (PALS) which can resolve many
problems or concerns without the need for a
formal complaint. An online PALS enquiry
form was introduced
• staff are encouraged to address any patient
or carer complaints as soon as they are raised
and to promote local resolution

The principles are:
1 Getting it right
2 Being customer focused
3 Being open and accountable
4 Acting fairly and proportionately
5 Putting things right
6 Seeking continuous improvement.

• concerns, complaints (and incidents) are
investigated in line with our Being Open
policy. A programme of staff training is in
place to improve the patient experience
when raising concerns at local level
• we have in place a ‘losses and compensations’
procedure

How have we met these principles?
• we have incorporated the NHS complaints
procedures into our own policy. The Francis
Report and the Clwyd/Hart Report have been
reviewed and relevant recommendations
adopted in complaints handling in the Trust

• regular reporting to the Board of complaints
received as part of the Trust’s performance
monitoring

• the Chief Executive and Director of Quality
& Governance/Chief Nurse take a personal
interest in all complaints and the quality of
investigation and response
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Patient Led Assessments of the Care
Environment (PLACE)
In 2014 we again undertook Patient Led
Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE)
in eight of our community hospitals and their
outpatient facilities. As in 2013 we worked
closely with Healthwatch Hertfordshire to
provide information and awareness training
prior to the assessments. The assessment
teams were again made up of, and led by, at
least 50% of volunteers (Patient Assessors)
drawn from Healthwatch Hertfordshire,
patient groups and independent volunteers.
11 Patient Assessors, 2 Non-Executive
Directors and 12 staff took part as members
of the PLACE assessment teams.

Five of our sites recorded improved performance
in the privacy, dignity and well-being assessment
area when compared with 2013 results, and
there was an overall performance improvement
of 11% in the assessment area of condition,
appearance and maintenance.
The table below summarises the Trust
performance against the national averages in
2014 (and 2013).

Location

Cleanliness

Food and
hydration

Privacy, dignity
and wellbeing

Condition,
appearance and
maintenance

National
Average

97.25%
(95.74%)

88.8%
(84.98 %)

87.7%
(88.87%)

92%
(88.75%)

Potters Bar
Community Hospital

97.24%
(92.45%)

93.08%
(90.11%)

83.82%
(75.76%)

93.04%
(78.29%)

Gossoms End

95.52%
(94.51%)

88.19%
(79.66%)

70.45%
(68.24%)

88.36%
(73.33%)

Runcie Unit*

91.39%
(94.95%)

85.78%
(81.61%)

80.08%
(78.41%)

79.83%
(69.60%)

St Peter’s Ward

93.97%
(95.87%)

88.25%
(76.54%)

69.94%
(63.33%)

71.32%
(66.67%)

Queen Victoria
Memorial Hospital

99.55%
(96.46%

81.27%
(77.14%)

68.27%
(80.00%)

87.07%
(72.81%)

Langley House

95.19%
(98.25%)

87.14%
(84.51%)

74.04%
(78.18%)

77.59%
(68.52%)

Herts & Essex Hospital

96.70%
(95.10%)

67.95%
(76.50%)

78.47%
(76.59%)

79.69%
(72.22%)

Danesbury

96.25%
(95.91%)

86.04%
(76.05%)

77.16%
(90.48%)

86.07%
(71.43%)

* Holywell, Sopwell and Langton Wards
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Results in graph form
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Learning and improvement
following PLACE
The following examples detail some of the
changes we have put in place following the
assessments:
• noticeboards replaced and development of a
staff photo board
• we provided patients with lockable
bedside storage

• use of food covers when carrying food
to rooms
• cleaning schedules reviewed and deep
cleans arranged in liaison with Estates
departments (both Trust and other hospital
providers where some of our bed based
units are located)

• improved ward and dining room signage

Annual Report and Accounts 2014-2015
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Incidents and serious incidents
The overall pattern of incident reporting in 2014/15 has changed since 2013/14,
with the exception of pressure ulcers and patient falls which remain the top two
categories and represent 42% and 13% respectively of all patient-related
incidents reported.
Of significance, medication incidents have
reduced reflecting the improvements in year
through our quality priority, incidents related
to patient confidentiality and transportation
are no longer one of the top ten categories
reflecting the improvements in information
governance and in the service from our
contracted transport provider. Incidents
related to medical devices and equipment
have increased; 54% of these were related to
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equipment provision by Hertfordshire Equipment
Service (HES), and we are working with HES to
alleviate delays in equipment provision and to
escalate these where they may have an impact
on patient safety.
We reported 276 serious incidents (SIs) during
2014/15. 27 of these were downgraded by
our Commissioners, making a total of 249.
(ie 5.2% of all incidents reported).
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Top ten categories of reported incidents
2014/15
No.
Pressure ulcer related incidents

2,015

Patient fall

606

Admission, discharge or transfer

425

Medication Patient

289

Patient information

219

Nursing Care

176

Communication

128

Medical devices & equipment

115

Treatment

112

Monitoring

84

Top ten categories of reported Serious incidents
2014/15
No.
Pressure ulcer - category 3 or 4

189

Patient injury - fall

19

Allegations of abuse
Adult
Child

10
1

Unexpected death

6

Information governance including breach of confidentiality

3

Infection control

3

Significant Near Miss

3

Notification of child death/serious injury

3

Late diagnosis

3

Medication; patient injury - manual handling; patient harm/sub-optimal care; Death in Custody

2*

* Two of each
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Infection prevention and control
The Trust met both the key performance indicators for healthcare associated
infections (HCAI) in 2014-2015. Substantial progress has been seen in the reduction
of patients affected by Clostridium difficile infection (CDI). HCT has a zero
tolerance to avoidable healthcare associated infections.
Performance against indicators set with the
Clinical Commissioning Groups (Herts Valleys
CCG and East & North Herts CCG) has been
within target levels. These include:

Each case has undergone a root cause analysis to
acknowledge good practice and identify learning
that can be shared across the organisation.
Improvements have been seen which include:

• HCT has had zero avoidable MRSA
bacteraemia cases in 2014/15

• a reduction in incidence of cases (68%)
compared to last year’s performance

• Clostridium difficile infection (CDI): Five cases
were assigned to the trust in 2014/15

• no transmission of infection (the five cases
have been identified in five different units)

The Trust has accomplished this target for
avoidable MRSA bacteraemia (blood stream)
infections with no cases for the third
consecutive year.

• no period of increased incidence or
outbreaks due to CDI within year

Clostridium difficile infection (CDI) cases

• improved antibiotic prescribing

After a challenging performance in 2013/14 the
trust has made a remarkable improvement in
reducing the incidence of CDI cases. In 2014/15
there has been a substantial reduction of 68%
compared to last year’s performance.

• improved review of proton pump inhibitors
(only one patient was on a PPI at the time
of diagnosis)

During 2014/2015 a total of six cases were
identified as attributed to the trust.

• improved patient recovery and outcome

• there have been no infections caused by
ribotype (or strain) 027. This strain is
associated with an increased risk of relapse,
increased mortality and more complications
(HPA, 2008)

Following national guidance (NHS England,
2014) the trust was able to demonstrate to the
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) that for
one case (Jun 2014) there was no lapse in care.
This appeal has resulted in removal of the case
from the target levels. As a consequence the
trust’s year end performance has been adjusted
to 5 cases in 2014/15 and maintains performance
within the ceiling set by our commissioners
(Chart 1).
Infection prevention performance
Key performance indicators

2014/15
Ceiling

2014/15
Performance

Avoidable MRSA Bacteraemia infections

0

0

C. difficile infections

13

5

National indicators
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Learning from the Root Cause Analyses (RCA)
includes:
• a need to embed the use of the stool
collecting algorithm in the assessment of
patient’s with loose stool and support
improved timing of isolation
• to improve communication between the
nurse in charge and agency staff when a
patient’s symptoms have changed and at
shift changes
• embed existing terminal cleaning check list
to ensure vacated bed spaces have been
cleaned appropriately
• embed the existing urinary tract infection
(UTI) care bundle
• improve compliance with documenting the
indication for starting antibiotics
• improve uptake of Infection Prevention and
Control (IPC) training

HCT has continued to be an active participant
of the whole health economy Healthcare
Associated Infection (HCAI) reduction group
which is chaired by the Clinical Commissioning
Groups. It is through this group that good
practice is shared, in particular antibiotic
stewardship which supports reducing the risk
of CDI incidence and development of
antibiotic resistance.
It is important to note that all our patients
with CDI had onset of symptoms and were
diagnosed within 28 days post discharge
(range 7 to 26 days) from the acute hospital
where they all required treatment with antibiotics
for their acute phase of illness. This can be
explained as community onset healthcare
associated CDI.
It is important that our staff are knowledgeable
in reducing the risk of transmission through
the application of infection prevention and
control principles such as prompt isolation and
environmental cleaning. Uptake of infection
prevention and control training is monitored
monthly and attendance levels have improved
with overall uptake for 2014/15 reported as
91%, an improvement compared to last two
years (2012/13 = 83.7%; 2013/14 = 86%).
It is acknowledged that the bed based units
have not reached the target set of 95% and
support will be provided to increase uptake
in Q1 2015/16.

Chart 1: CDI incidence 2014 - 2015 compared to performance in 2013 - 2014
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Infection prevention performance
Key performance indicators

2014/15
Target

Infection control

Ceiling

2014/15
Performance

MRSA blood stream infections (avoidable)
NB a low performance against the ceiling is good

0

0

Clostridium difficile
NB a low performance against the ceiling is good

13

5

Compliance with hand hygiene in the community hospitals will
be more than 95%

95%

99.3%

% of relevant patients screened for MRSA on admission to
bed-based units

100%

99.9%

% of patients reporting positively about cleanliness of environment
in a community hospital

98%

100%

% of patients reporting that staff washed their hands

90%

99%

Patient experience

During 2014/15 the Trust reported two
outbreaks due to diarrhoea and/or vomiting.
The causative organism was not confirmed but
was suspected to be Norovirus (winter vomiting
disease). The outbreaks were managed in line
with local escalation processes. The units
affected (Langley House and St Peter’s Ward),
were closed or partially closed (one corridor at
Langley House was affected) to admissions
during the outbreak to ensure that control
measures could be exercised and the outbreak
brought to a conclusion as quickly and safely
as possible. The incidence of outbreaks
continues to remain at a low level (table
below) year on year.

A key part of maintaining our high standards
is to deliver on national targets related to
healthcare associated infections (HCAIs).
Following the commencement of a new
facilities contract in April 2014 the trust has
been working with the contractor to improve
the assurance and standards of cleaning in
our bed based units (range 84%-99% in year).
The majority of sites are now reported to be
meeting the minimum standards (>95%) for
cleaning in Q4 and the units located on a local
acute hospital site have adopted the Publically
Available Specification (PAS) 5748 system
for risk assessing cleaning requirements and
improvements in cleaning standards have
been demonstrated.

Yearly reports of Diarrhoea and/or vomiting outbreaks 2009 - 2015
Year
Number of outbreaks

32

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

9

1

4

3

1

2
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Safeguarding vulnerable patients
The profile of safeguarding work has become more prominent due to the
number of high profile issues nationally and full media reporting, thus raising
public awareness.
This has included changes in statutory
reporting for Female Genital Mutilation (FGM),
a higher profile in the PREVENT agenda, child
sexual exploitation (CSE) and a greater
emphasis on the early help agenda including
the formation of a Multi-Agency Safeguarding
Hub (MASH). Ensuring patient/service user
safety is a key priority for the Trust; assurance
is given by a robust programme of training,
supervision and audit. Currently 90.1% of Trust
staff are trained to the level required by their
role for safeguarding children and 85% for
safeguarding adults. 100% of eligible staff
have received safeguarding supervision.

The Trust continue to embed a culture of zero
tolerance of abuse, neglect and ill-treatment
of vulnerable persons with the support of our
Named Nurses for Safeguarding Vulnerable
Adults (SVA) and Safeguarding Children, our
Children’s Safeguarding Team and our
Safeguarding champions, and through our
continued work with other agencies including
the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board
(HSAB) and the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board (HSCB), Social Care, Police and
the Voluntary sector.

The Safeguarding Children Team also lead
on the Multi Agency Rapid Response process,
this is started when a child dies unexpectedly.
The work of the team has been recognised in
the 6Cs award and was a shortlisted finalist in
the Health Service Journal Awards.
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Medicines management
Pharmacy at Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has undergone a major change
in 2014/15 with the employment of its own pharmacy team following the closure
of the Central and Eastern Clinical Support Unit (CSU) on the 30 September 2014.
Two pharmaceutical advisors, previously
working for the CSU, are now employed by
the Trust and they were joined by a new,
Chief pharmacist in October 2014.
Key responsibilities for the pharmacy department
have been to review and implement a Medicines
Optimisation Strategy and a work plan for the
Trust in its journey to become a Foundation Trust.
As part of this role, the pharmacy department
has undertaken a medicine storage and handling
audit to ensure safe delivery of medicines in all
our sites.
The pharmacy department has also been
working closely with learning and development
and the clinical quality leads have undertaken a
“deep dive” into our extensive network of
non-medical prescribing nurses. From this we
have successfully started a series of non-medical
prescriber continual professional development
study sessions, to ensure the Trust maintains
our high quality of prescribing and ensure we
provide continual support to our healthcare
professional staff.
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For 2015/16 the pharmacy department will
be working with our Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs) in planning more innovative
ways of delivering wound care prescribing.
This will streamline access to dressings and
will improve the experience of our patients.
The pharmacy department has recruited its
first pharmacist for the already successful
HomeFirst team in Lower Lea Valley.
The aim of this role is to further reduce acute
admissions by optimising the use of medicines
in high risk patients who are sufferers of long
term conditions or may have multiple conditions
and are on poly-pharmacy. This will be a oneyear pilot which we hope to expand right
across Hertfordshire from 2016/17.
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Clinical effectiveness, audit, research
and innovation
Clinical effectiveness involves reviewing of current practice and modifying it
where necessary to improve the quality of patient care.

In 2014/15, the Department of Health released
52 national clinical audits for inclusion in a
Trust’s Quality Account (51 in 2013/14). Seven
of these national clinical audits covered NHS
services that Hertfordshire Community NHS
provides, but one was withdrawn by the
Department of Health (DH) during 2014/15.
Therefore during 2014/15, six national clinical
audits and one clinical outcome review (formerly
known as national confidential enquiry) covered
NHS services that Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust provides.

The goal of this research is to improve the
services delivered in this community and
across the NHS.

34 local clinical audits were also reviewed.

Work also commenced with the North Thames
Clinical Research Network (CRN) which is
aligned with the University College London
Partners (UCLP) Academic Health Science
Network. Feedback from CRN is that the Trust
has delivered an impressive step change in
performance during 2014/15.

The number of patients receiving NHS services
provided or sub-contracted by Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust in 2014/15 that were
recruited to participate in research approved
by a research ethics committee was 235.
This compares to only four in 2013/14.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has been
involved in 11 clinical research studies on the
National Institute for Health Research (NIHR)
Clinical Research Network Study Portfolio, and
involved in three Collaboration for Leadership
in Applied Health Research and Care studies
during 2014/15.

In 2014, a research delivery coordinator was
appointed to support clinical focus on research
by coordinating research activity across the
Trust’s services, and working with researchers
and sponsors of research to make sure our
community can participate in well regulated,
clinically useful, and ethically scrutinised
research projects.

As a means of inviting innovative ideas, in
November 2014, Trust staff pitched 27 exciting
and varied ideas to five ‘dragons in their den’.
Ten heard the words “I’m in” and secured the
support of their individual dragon to progress
their idea.

Details of these studies can be found on the
Trust website at:
www.hertschs.nhs.uk/about-us/Research.aspx
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Equality, diversity and human rights
During 2014 - 2015, we continued to make progress on embedding equality
and diversity under the leadership of our Equality and Diversity Manager, in
respect of both services provided and employment.
This has included revising related policies
and increasing access to equality and diversity
training, with 68% of staff reporting that they
have received equality and diversity training in
the last 12 months compared with 59% in
2013.
Equality objectives
Following the publication of our Equality
Information Report 2014, we identified six key
Equality Objectives, which were:
Objective 1
Publish new template for completing
equality analysis.
Objective 2
Complete a high level analysis of service users
by protected characteristic.
Objective 3
Conduct an Equal Pay Audit across the nine
protected characteristics.
Objective 4
Improve the quality of the equality and
diversity data held on ESR.
Objective 5
Carry out a service user-led disability access
audit on Hertfordshire Community Trust
owned site/service.

Public Sector Equality Duty Report 2014
The Trust is fully committed to collecting and
publishing a range of equality related information
as required by the Specific Duties under the
Equality Act 2010. The Public Sector Equality
Duty (PSED) report 2014, was approved by the
Trust Board in March 2015 is also available on
our public website.
The Trust formally adopted the national
Equality Delivery System in 2012. The Equality
Delivery System requires the Trust to work
with staff, patients and local stakeholders to
assess and grade our performance against
eighteen separate outcomes within four goals.
The evidence contained in the 2014 PSED
report will be used to assist the grading
process and objective setting for the
Equality Delivery System in 2015.
Equality Impact Analysis
Our Equality Impact Analysis form incorporates
all nine protected characteristics to ensure
compliance with the Equality Act 2010.
Our Equality Impact Analysis process allows
us to establish whether there is a negative or
positive effect or impact on particular protected
group. Policies with a completed Equality
Impact Analysis form are then sent to the
relevant committee for ratification.

Objective 6
Publish vision and mission statement
for equality.
An action plan was developed to support the
delivery of these objectives and our progress in
achieving these is reported in our Equality
Information Report 2014.
www.hertschs.nhs.uk/Library/Publications/PSED
%20Report%20April%20Dec%202014.pdf
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Interpreting support for patients
We are committed to ensuring that there
is effective communication with non-English
speakers, people for whom English is a second
language and those patients with a sensory
impairment who require communication
support.
Staff who have patient contact are required
to make every effort to understand the
communication needs of the patients, families
and carers in order to ensure that they receive
a sensitive and professional service and have
access to the support they require.
From 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015, there
were 946 interpreting contacts. The table
above shows the top 10 languages used.
Improving the care of people with
learning disabilities
In February 2012, Mencap published a report in
'Death by indifference: 74 deaths and counting’.
Following this report several recommendations
were made. These recommendations have
formed the basis of our action plan to improve
access to health services for people with
learning disabilities.

Key achievements during 2014 include:
• St Albans Specialist Dental Care Services
awarded Purple Star for delivery of high
quality care to learning disability service users
• Podiatry working towards gaining Purple Star
kite mark for delivering good quality service
to service users with a learning disability
• Two further services are being identified to
work towards gaining the kite mark
• Adult Learning Disability Policy reviewed
and refreshed
• Annual Joint Health and Social Care Learning
Disabilities Self-Assessment Framework
completed on November 2014
• Clinical audit of learning disabilities
developed and rolled out in March 2015
• A Hertfordshire-wide conference held on
10 March 2015 in partnership with
stakeholders

We have made significant progress in partnership
with the Health Liaison Team at Hertfordshire
County Council.
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Quality Priorities for 2015 -2016
In determining the areas that the Trust should focus on for our quality
improvements in 2015/16, we listened to our patients, carers, staff and
stakeholders throughout 2014/15 in a number of ways.
After consideration of the main themes
emerging from feedback and the themes arising
from national reviews, the Trust Board also
reviewed our performance against indicators
which measure the safety and quality of
services and agreed six priorities for 2015/16.
All six priorities are about delivering better
experiences and outcomes for patients.
Four of the priorities build on the progress
made last year and two are new priorities.
The agreed priorities are as below, and
more information about each, including how
progress will be measured, is given in the
Trust’s Quality Account.
Outstanding patient experience
1 To demonstrate the six core values of
Compassion in Practice* in everything
we do.
2 To improve the experiences of families in
their chosen method of infant feeding.

Excellent clinical outcomes
6 To improve the quality of life for people with
dementia and their carers through early
identification of those at risk.
Our six quality priorities are not the only areas
of quality improvement in 2015/16. We will
also deliver the quality improvements outlined
in our quality improvement plan, in our quality
strategy and in our contracts and CQUIN
Schemes.
* “Compassion in Practice” was introduced as
a three year vision for nurses, midwives and
care staff in December 2012 and centres
around six core values, known as “The 6Cs”:
• Care
• Compassion
• Competence
• Communication
• Courage
• Commitment

3 To improve the nutritional experience of
patients in our community hospitals.
Consistent and improving patient safety
4 To improve the identification of safeguarding
concerns of vulnerable patients in our care
and visited in care homes.
5 To reduce the number of patients who
experience harm from an incident related to
the administration of their medication.
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Operational performance
Activity
Patient Activity Figures
2013/14

2014/15

1,759,781

1,797,218

159,359

150,174

1,919,140

1,947,392

309,837

398,799

74,266

75,436

Minor injuries attendances

8,444

8,981

Total Admissions

3,303

3,012

Total face to face contacts
Total non-face to face contacts
Total contacts
Total referrals received
Occupied bed days
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National and regional performance targets
National targets and Key Performance Indicators
have been met in 2014/15, including:

These include:
• MRSA cases - Zero cases reported for the
year (for third consecutive year)

• 18 weeks
• GUM (offered and seen)

• Clostridium difficile - below agreed
trajectory (5 cases reported all year)

• New-born hearing screening
• Retinal screening (offered and screened)
• Minor Injuries four hour access - 100%
achievement
• 18 weeks referral to treatment for
Consultant-led Services at 98% at March
against 95% target
• National Child Measurement programme
(NCMP) ahead of trajectory for the school
year 2014/15
• Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) - ahead of
trajectory for the school year 2014/15
Performance against indicators set with the
Trust Development Authority and Clinical
Commissioning Groups have been within
target levels.

• HCT has had zero mixed sex
accommodation breaches
• 18 weeks referral to treatment for nonconsultant led services at 99% in March
against a target of 98%
• achieving and maintaining NHS delayed
transfers of care at 4.6% compared to a
target of 5%
• achieving length of stay targets for stroke
patients at 32 days compared to a target of
35 days
• Venous Thromboembolism assessments
completed in 99.9% of admitted patients
• 98% of new birth visits conducted within 14
days of birth against a target of 98%
The Trust continued to perform strongly in
2014/15. In particular, we achieved all of the
regional/national indicators. 100% of patients
that attended our minor injuries unit were
seen within the national standard of 4 hours.
We achieved 98% for our Referral to Treatment
(RTT) indicator for consultant led services.
This puts HCT in the position of being one of
the most consistent and best performing
aspirant Foundation Trusts in the country.
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The following table sets out performance against our main targets. Further information on
performance against quality standards is included in the Quality Account.
Key performance indicators
Key performance indicators

2014/15
Target/Thresholds

2014/15
Performance

Indicators
Minor injuries patients seen < 4 hours

95%

100%

Mixed sex accommodation breaches

0

0

Avoidable MRSA Bacteraemia

0

0

13

5

C. difficile infections
Venous thromboembolism assessments

100%

99.9%

Percentage of GUM patients seen within 48Hrs

85%

92%

Percentage of GUM patients offered appointment within 48Hrs

98%

100%

New born hearing screening - % babies screened within
1 month of birth

98%

99%

100%

100%

Retinal screening - % of diabetic cohort that has been offered
an annual screen
Retinal screening - % of diabetic cohort that has been screened
in 2014/2015

80%

87.5%

18 Weeks - Non-admitted patients - % of patients being treated
within18 weeks for consultant led services

95%

98%

18 Weeks Pledge 2

98%

99%

Human Papilloma Virus (HPV)

NHS delayed transfer of care
Stroke Patients Average Length of Stay (ALOS)

Dose 1 85%
Dose 2 85%
Dose 3 85%

On trajectory

5%
35 days
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Financial performance

Sources of Finance

Summary of Financial Performance

The Trust’s funding comes from contracts with
commissioners, to provide health services.
Funding remains on a block basis for the
majority of its services, ie the Trust is paid a
fixed sum of money to deliver a range of
services, with an agreed level of activity.

The Trust continues to ensure a robust
financial foundation to the organisation.
Following delivery of a surplus every year
since its establishment, the Trust continued
this trend and delivered a surplus of £1.4m
in 2014/15, equivalent to 1% of turnover.

Net surplus (£m)
1.6
1.4
1.2
1.0
0.8
0.6
0.4
0.2
0
2010/11
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2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15
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A comparison of planned and actual performance is shown in the table below. The actual surplus
was higher than the planned position.
Net surplus (£m)
2014/15 Plan
£000s

2014/15 Outturn
£000s

Variance

£127,208

£136,912

£9,704

7.6%

£4,391

£3,940

-£451

-10.3%

£131,599

£140,852

£9,253

7.0%

Pay costs

£96,989

£103,044

£6.055

6.2%

Non-pay costs

£28,190

£31,134

£2,944

10.4%

£125,179

£134,178

£9,999

7.2%

£6,420

£6,674

£254

4.0%

Interest receivable

-£26

-£31

-£2

6.9%

Interest payable

£59

£62

£3

5.1%

Depreciation

£3,177

£3,325

£148

4.7%

Amortisation

£154

£241

£87

56.5%

PDC dividend

£1,754

£1,662

-£92

0.0%

£0

0.0%

£000s

% of plan

Income
Clinical income
Non-clinical income
TOTAL INCOME

Expenditure

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

EBITDA*

Exceptional items
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
Net gain on transfer of
of asset
RETAINED SURPLUS

£1,305

£1,415

£110

8.43%

£0

£352

£352

0.0%

£1,305

£1,767

£462

8.43%

*EBITDA means Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation

The planned outturn differs from the actual due to a number of factors. Income was higher
than planned due to opening additional beds throughout the year, and a number of new
services, including the expansion of HomeFirst into new localities, Rapid Response in Watford,
and Early Supported Discharge across the county. Pay was overspent due to the high levels of
bank or agency staff required to safely staff escalation beds and recruitment to new services.
Spend on non-pay was overspent through delivering new services. The Trust has also invested
non-recurrently in tendering for additional services.
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Cash
At the end of the year the Trust was made
aware of an asset (fitting out of a building,
including fixtures and fittings) that had not
transferred in 2013/14 as part of the transfer
of assets following the demise of NHS
Hertfordshire. This was brought into the
Trust’s accounts using absorption accounting
and increases the value of the Trust’s assets by
£352k, with the corresponding entry shown
above as a gain on transfer.
NHS Trusts have a statutory duty to break even
in terms of income and expenditure. In order
to achieve this position we have continued
with a Cost Improvement Programme which
identifies schemes across the organisation to
make efficiencies or reduce costs. This included
the restructuring of some services to release
costs through new ways of working and savings
on the procurement of goods and services.
Capital investment
We invested £3.4m in capital schemes.
The Department of Health set a Capital Resource
Limit of £3.4m, and no overspend is permitted.
This duty has therefore been achieved.
We spent much of this funding on continuing
to extend electronic patient records in new
services and developing mobile working.
We also invested in improving a number of
healthcare sites, some to enhance patient
facilities and some to clear a back-log of
maintenance, including replacing roofing
and flooring. We also invested in medical
equipment.

NHS Trusts are required to manage cash within
their notified External Financing Limit (EFL).
This limit is set by the Department of Health
and determines how much cash a Trust may
spend beyond that generated by its normal
day to day operations. It is a breach of its
financial duty to overspend against the EFL.
We delivered an undershoot of £1.1m, which
means that it has met its obligation. We had
£12.8m cash in the bank at the end of the year.
This is an increase of £2.2m on cash held at
31 March 2014.
The Trust’s estate
HCT occupies space in over 90 sites across
Hertfordshire and West Essex. The portfolio is
diverse and includes office space, community
health clinics, and community hospitals with
inpatient wards. The Trust has an estates
strategy which aims to significantly reduce the
number of properties used by the Trust over
the next five years.
The Trust undertakes a full revaluation of all its
properties every five years. In the intervening
period a desk top valuation is carried out at
three years, with individual valuation exercises
being performed on specific assets where
significant building works have been
undertaken. In line with this policy a full
revaluation was undertaken at 31 March
2015, carried out by the Trust’s qualified
chartered surveyor. This has reduced the value
of land and buildings.

In 2015/16 we are expecting to invest a further
£5.6m. This will be spent on continuing to
update our IT equipment and continued
refurbishment of our clinics, both of which
are key to delivering the Trust’s strategy.
This is affordable through the Trust’s
depreciation charges and cash reserves.
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Monitoring performance

Internal
The Trust’s performance reporting is part of
HCT’s Performance Management Framework
(PMF). It ensures alignment between clinical
and non-clinical operational performance,
quality, activity and finance to enable the
Board and Trust management to:
• assess performance against targets
• determine what action is necessary to
address performance issues
• predict future performance and key actions
• focus resource and attention in required areas
The PMF reporting relies on a hierarchy of
performance management arrangements from
Board through to service level leading to a
‘Patient to Board’ overview. This is represented
diagrammatically as follows:

Level 1

The Board, committees and Executive receive
a monthly Integrated Board Performance Report
(IBPR) detailing progress and achievement
against the strategically significant goals.
The Board reviews the IBPR monthly for
assurance that the Trust is delivering against the
agreed trajectories. It is supported in this
function by the Strategy and Resources
Committee, the Healthcare Governance
Committee and the Audit Committee, which
play a critical role in assuring the Board that
the system is working.
Performance indicators reflect national
(Department of Health, Trust Development
Authority and Monitor), commissioner and
locally agreed targets/objectives to support
delivery of overall HCT organisational
objectives. Indicators include those defined in
the quality section of the contract with HCT's
main commissioners. Trajectories are identified
for each, with RAG ratings developed for all
indicators. The performance indicators are
reviewed on an annual basis.

Trust Board
Integrated Board Performance Report with performance against Monitor
and other strategic KPIs.
Executive and NED: Performance overseen at Board Committees with
more detailed review and challenge

Level 2

Level 3

Level 4

Business Unit
Performance and risk reviewed by the Executive Directors at
Business Unit Performance Reviews using High Value Health
Care metrics
Service
Performance reviewed by Business Unit Management
Teams at Service Performance Reviews

Team and individual
Performance metrics, including appraisal and
supervision overseen by line management
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Further, reports to the Board include information
on benchmarking of HCT performance relative
to other organisations, including community
trusts where HCT is a member of the
benchmarking network.

Based on the submissions and other data,
the Trust Development Authority (TDA) collates
a “performance summary” in respect of the
Trust and monthly meetings are held with the
Trust’s Executive Team to:

Below the Board, there is a clear Executive
Performance Framework. This delivers
performance management, primarily through
a series of monthly Business Unit Performance
Review (BUPR) meetings. Each Business Unit
reports performance on a monthly basis to
the Executive Team. This is in the form of a
‘performance pack’. The management of this
process is aligned with the Trust Performance
Management Framework with the development
of more autonomy for services.

• clarify HCT’s performance (quality, operational
and financial)
• assess future plans and
• agree the Trust’s Foundation Trust application
timeline
As at March 2015, the Trust is considered “low
risk” by the TDA and confirmed at monthly
Integrated Delivery Meetings (IDM), the TDA’s
oversight meeting with HCT.

External
Reporting to the NHS Trust Development
Authority (and Foundation Trust Application)
During 2014/15, the Trust reported to the
NHS Trust Development Authority (TDA),
which oversees and monitors the performance
of NHS Trusts and manages the Foundation
Trust application process prior to onward
referral to Monitor, which authorises and
licences NHS Foundation Trusts.
The process involves submission of a detailed
annual “Operational Plan” and also assurance
submissions based on Monitor’s Licencing
process. The latter involves making two formal
monthly submissions covering self-assessed
compliance with 14 “Board Statements” (which
covers Clinical Quality, Finance and Governance
arrangements) and 12 of Monitor’s “(Licencing)
Conditions”. As at 31st March 2015, the
Trust was compliant with 14 out of 14 Board
Statements and 12 out of 12 Conditions.
Assurance regarding compliance is provided
monthly by the Strategy & Resource Committee.

In respect of progression in the FT application
process, changes arising from Sir Robert Francis’
public inquiry report into the serious failings
at the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation
Trust (February 2013), led to more robust
governance arrangements whereby Monitor
has indicated that it will not assess applicant
Trusts until each provider has first been
inspected by the Care Quality Commission
(CQC). This has generated a large programme
of work for the CQC with the development
and piloting of a new community trust
inspection regime.
The Trust was inspected by the CQC in
February 2015 and at the time of writing the
outcome is still awaited.
Health Scrutiny
Along with all health service bodies in
Hertfordshire, the Trust is also held to account
by Hertfordshire County Council’s Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)
and attends meetings to discuss issues related
to the development of community health care
in Hertfordshire.
In addition, HCT now provides periodic
updates, as invited, to Hertfordshire Health
and Wellbeing Board.
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Healthwatch Hertfordshire

Commissioners

Healthwatch Hertfordshire is part of a national
network which acts as the independent local
consumer champion in health and social care.
Although the Trust is not accountable to
Healthwatch for its performance. Healthwatch
represents the interests of local service users.
There is an observer from Healthwatch on
the Board of the Trust and a member from
Healthwatch participates in the Patient Safety
and Experience sub-committee.

The Trust accounts to its commissioners for
meeting contractual terms and specifications
and meets regularly with commissioners.
The Trust also provides activity and quality
information or reports arising from the
contract specifications. The Trust’s principal
commissioners are Herts Valleys CCG,
East & North Hertfordshire CCG, West Essex
CCG and increasingly, Hertfordshire County
Council, as local authorities take on an
enhanced role in commissioning community
health services for their local population.
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Strategic risks and uncertainties

The Trust’s corporate risk registers and governance processes are designed to
assess the impact of any identified risks to Trust plans, and ensure that as far as
possible they are managed and mitigated.
Objectives with the greatest risk of not
being achieved are reviewed regularly by
the Executive Team, Audit Committee and
the Board. Clinical risks are also reviewed by
the Healthcare Governance Committee.
Independent assurance is also provided by
the Trust’s Internal Auditors.
The main strategic risks that faced the Trust
in 2014/15 are set out in the Trust’s Board
Assurance Framework. These are essentially
the same strategic risks as in 2013/14, but
different specific factors came into play
over time.

Resources
Failure to understand and manage the
Trust's resources (finance, workforce and
estate) may result in ineffective and inefficient
use of resources resulting in the Trust becoming
unsustainable and unable to deliver High
Value Healthcare.
External factors
External factors* beyond HCT's control may
impact detrimentally on the Trust, resulting in
the Trust becoming unsustainable and unable
to deliver High Value Healthcare.

Market environment
Operating in a highly competitive market
environment where reputation, quality and
misalignment of strategic intentions may lead
to loss of existing HCT business or failure to
secure new business resulting in the Trust
becoming unsustainable and unable to
deliver High Value Healthcare.
Clinical
The safety, experience and clinical outcomes
of care for patients may fall below the Trust’s
expected standards whereby quality of care is
compromised to an extent which results in harm
to patients, poor public reputation, punitive
regulatory action and failure to deliver High
Value Healthcare.
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* Sociological, Technological, Economic,
Environmental, Political, Legal, Ethical and
Demographic. (“STEEPLED”)
Capacity and capability
The organisational development programme
of the Trust does not develop the capacity and
capability required to deliver the Trust's strategy
and may lead to failure in delivering essential
elements of the Strategic Implementation Plan
to required timescales, resulting in adverse
impact on staff engagement, development of
services and the reputation of the Trust, which
in turn impacts on HCT's ability to deliver
High Value Healthcare.
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Background

Organisational Objective 2015/16

NHS Trusts are required to comply with a
number of statutory obligations relating to
sustainability. These include:

Produce a Sustainability Strategy - (this will
form a key part of our Good Corporate
Citizenship objectives).

The Climate Change Act 2008
This act sets a legal obligation for
organisations to achieve a 34% reduction in
carbon emissions by 2020, a 50% reduction
by 2025, and an 80% reduction by 2050
compared to 1990 levels.

Reduce underutilisation of buildings and
surrender surplus, thus reducing our footprint.

The NHS Carbon Reduction Strategy 2009
This strategy was published by the NHS
Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) in 2009.
It requires NHS organisations to achieve a
10% reduction in emissions by 2015 based
on a baseline of 2007.

This will:

The changes within the NHS since 2007 have
been significant particularly in relation to
Community Trusts and their estate ownership.
This has created difficulties in the measurement
and monitoring of the organisations carbon
footprint.
A carbon footprint audit was commissioned in
2012 which related to the previous years’ data,
this however is being re measured in 2015/16
using an updated information database.

Introduce standard codes and methodologies
- Building Research Establishment Environment
Assessment Methodology (BREEAM).

• measure the environmental impact of each
of our built assets
• reduce the environmental impact of the
construction process
• improve through management and
measurement building performance
Ensure and monitor all external providers and
services meet our carbon reduction standards.
Introduce new technologies to improve
buildings and working practices.
Create an HCT Good Corporate Citizen
Project Group.

Current position
HCT are working in partnership with Building
Research Establishment (BRE) and the
Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) and are
currently re measuring the carbon footprint
of the organisation to provide the baseline.
The climate change targets are an objective of
the Board approved Service and Estate Strategy,
which also assists in delivering this agenda
through effective use and development of the
built environment.

Include contain carbon reduction targets
within key personnel objectives.
Governance
The Good Corporate Citizenship group will
report directly to the Strategy and Resources
Committee (SRC).
The nominated Executive Director lead is
David Law - Chief Executive.

A significant impact on achieving the national
and NHS targets are through the supply chain.
HCT purchase a total facilities management
package as well as a range of other goods
and services including utilities, medical
supplies and construction works.
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Profile of our staff

As at 31 March 2015, the Trust employed 3035 staff (2471.72 Full Time Equivalent - FTE)
compared to 2,988 (2421.51 FTE) in 2013/14. The profile of the staff is as follows:
Staff groups
Trust employees by staff group - 31 March 2015

◼Additional Professional Scientific and Technical (2.9%) ◼Additional Clinical Services (18.3%)
◼Administrative and Clerical (18.3%) ◼Allied Health Professionals (21%) ◼Estates and Ancillary (0.2%)
◼Medical and Dental (1.6%) ◼Nursing and Midwifery Registered (36.8%) ◼Students (1.0%)
Staff by gender
Trust employees by staff group and gender - 31 March 2015
100%
92.65%

90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

5.73%
0.03%

0.10%

Directors

0.53%

Senior Managers

◼Male: Trust total 6.3%
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0.95%
All other staff groups

◼Female: Trust total 93.7%
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The mix of gender on the Board of Directors as at 31 March 2015 was as follows*
The Trust Board and Executive Directors by gender
No.
2015

%
2015

Chair and Non-Executive Directors

Female
Male

3
3

50%
50%

Executive Directors:

Female
Male

4
2

66.6%
33.3%

Combined

Female
Male

7
5

58%
42%

* Includes voting and non-voting members

Staff by ethnic background
Trust employees by ethnicity versus the local population - 31 March 2015
100%
90%
80%

87.6%
82.1%

70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
11.5%

10%

12.4%
6.4%

0%
White

Black and ethnic minority

◼HCT Workforce

Undisclosed

◼Local Population (Census 2011)
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Staff by age band
Age range of Trust employees - 31 March 2015

◼<25 (3.20%) ◼25 - 34 (20.03%) ◼35 - 44 (23.10%)
◼45 - 54 (32.26%) ◼55 - 64 (20.00%) ◼65> (1.42%)

Staff by disability status
Disabled status Trust employees - 31 March 2015

◼Disabled (2.4%)

52

◼Not disabled (76.1%)

◼Undisclosed (21.4%)
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Staff engagement

Our workforce vision is ‘to have a workforce with the right skills and values,
organised and supported in the right way, working together to maintain
and improve the health and wellbeing of the people we serve’.
This will be delivered through the strategic
objectives set out in our five year Workforce
and OD Strategy and supporting delivery plan.
The strategy defines our commitment to staff
in a range of key areas, including staff
engagement, leadership, training and
development, employment practices
(including equality and diversity) and health
and wellbeing.
Staff Engagement
We recognise that a properly engaged workforce
is vital to our ability to deliver the level of service
transformation required to implement our clinical
strategy and service plans.

Ongoing communication mechanisms have
included a programme of Board visits to
services, Executive led discussions at team
meetings, regular Chief Executive Updates to
all staff and further development of the Trust’s
staff e-newsletter.
The Trust has a well-established Joint
Negotiating Committee and engages regularly
with union and professional association
representatives through its Health and Safety
Committee, Terms and Conditions Sub Group
and Health and Wellbeing Group, as well as
in relation to organisational change and
individual case management.
Staff Recognition

Staff engagement has been a strong focus over
the past year, with a range of new engagement
initiatives introduced. These include a new team
brief system, a newsletter for clinical staff called
Clinical Matters, a therapy forum, workshops
on system integration, and staff involvement in
the development of new models for delivering
services. We also introduced a ‘Dragons Den’
to support staff to implement their ideas for
service innovations.

Staff achievements and success are formally
recognised through our Chief Executive
Updates and our annual Leading Lights
Recognition Awards. These awards, which
include individual and team nominations
under a range of categories, were presented
at our Celebrating High Value Healthcare
event in June 2014. All nominees were
recognised for their achievements, with
certificates and vouchers presented to the
winners and runners up.
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National Annual Staff Survey
The 2014 Annual Staff Survey was run as a
full census on-line for the second time.
The percentage response rate to the annual
survey was slightly lower than last year at 46%.
However, as the survey was run as a full census,
this still equated to 1,240 staff responding.

• lower percentage of staff experiencing
harassment, bullying abuse or violence from
patients in the last 12 months

Overall, the Trust results showed a marked
improvement compared to the 2013 survey,
with no key results areas worse than last year,
20 areas remaining broadly the same and seven
showing a significant improvement. The areas
showing the greatest improvement were:

• higher percentage of staff reporting good
communication between senior management
and staff

• more staff confirming the fairness and
effectiveness of incident reporting procedures

The Trust is taking the results very seriously
and is working with staff to develop local
action plans to address areas for
development.

• increased percentage of staff feeling able to
contribute towards improvement at work

“PULSE” Surveys
• reduced work pressure felt by staff
In addition to the annual National Staff Survey,
the Trust undertakes its own quarterly PULSE
surveys. These comprise a number of core
questions, plus some ‘hot topic’ questions on
areas of particularly interest to the Trust.

• more staff recommending the Trust as a
place to work or receive treatment
• more staff reporting good communication
between senior management and staff

In 2014/15, responses to the PULSE
survey showed a clear picture of continued
improvement, with significantly better scores
on all 16 core questions in January 2015
compared with January 2014. The PULSE
survey also includes the staff Friend and
Family Test questions, again with improved
scores across the year.

• more staff having a well-structured appraisal
in the last 12 months
In terms of how we compared to other
Community Trusts, the areas where we scored
well were:
• much higher percentage of staff agreeing
that they would feel secure raising concerns
about unsafe clinical practice (78% for HCT
compared with 72% on average)
“PULSE” Survey results

Q1
How likely are you to recommend your Trust to friends and family if they needed care or treatment?
Q1 - Jan 2014
Q1 - Apr 2014
Q1 - July 2014
Q1 - Jan 2015

18%

75%
77%

7%

18%

5%

16%

79%
82%

14%

5%
4%

Q2
How likely are you to recommend your Trust to your friends and family as a place to work?
Q1 - Jan 2014
Q1 - Apr 2014
Q1 - July 2014
Q1 - Jan 2015

54

49%

32%

54%

21%

53%

23%

57%

19%
25%
24%
25%

18%
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The Trust’s workforce
Staff wellbeing

Leadership Development
Leadership development continues to be a key
priority for the Trust. Over the past year we have
continued to develop our leaders at all levels,
through training and induction programmes,
action learning sets, secondments, project work,
coaching and access to regional strategic
leadership programmes.
Additionally we supported leadership
engagement by running quarterly Leadership
Forums, bringing our senior leaders together
with the Trust Executive to share good
leadership practice.
In July 2014, we ran our second Leadership
Conference for a wider audience of operational
and clinical leaders. The focus of the event was
on building resilience and celebrating good
practice with over 130 leaders hearing our
keynote speaker talking about the importance
of sharing and acknowledging our ‘glimpses
of brilliance’. The Leadership Conference is
now an annual event, with the next one
taking place in June 2015.

Over the last year we have introduced the new
NHS Leadership Framework and our Board
was the first in the country to undertake the
Board 360 appraisal process. Development for
the Board is being based on this feedback.
Participants on our leadership programmes
are also being offered 360 feedback against
the Leadership Framework.
Our ‘self-managing teams’ project empowers
and enables teams to explore different ways
of working to improve efficiency. Additionally
our Locality and Service Managers recently
participated in workshops to develop semiautonomous teams within Adult Services
Business Units to support integrated working
and delivery of our clinical strategy.
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Staff development
We are committed to continuing to support
and develop our staff through our ongoing
programme of transformation.
In the past year, funding from the Local
Education and Training Board has been used
to enhance the clinical skills of our staff,
enabling us to provide treatment that would
previously have required a trip to hospital.
To support this, we have introduced a new
Adult Services Induction Programme, including
sessions on all the key clinical skills that our
staff working with adult patients need. As well
as assuring that all our new starters are fully
trained within three months of joining us; the
programme introduces the staff to many of
our subject specialists who can offer advice
and support.
With the expansion of the Health Visiting
workforce and the delivery of the Healthy Child
Programme, HCT has offered a comprehensive
training package to existing and newly qualified
Health Visitors including SUSTAIN Steps;
Antenatal and Postnatal Promotional Guidance;
Solihull; UNICEF breastfeeding; Parent Infant
Relationships and Perinatal Mental Health; ASQ
and online child and family Health Visiting
modules. Our student Health Visitors have
received a unique practice based clinical
preparation programme to provide consistency
and develop confidence from day one.

Other initiatives have included:
• rolling out our new electronic appraisal
system to enable staff to keep all their
appraisal records in one place. We have
trained 700 staff on the HCT appraisal
principles and using the system
• Creating Competence Profiles for our Team
Leaders - describing the leadership and
management skills they need to support
their teams. These will be included as part
of the appraisal process in the coming year
Staff recruitment and retention
The Trust recognises the vital importance of
being able to recruit sufficient numbers of
high quality staff to deliver safe and effective
services to our patients and service users, and
of retaining the experienced staff we already
have working in our teams. To address this
important area, the Trust has a Workforce
Resourcing Plan in place and is implementing
a wide range of initiatives to attract new staff.
During 2014/15 this has included holding
open days, attending recruitment fairs,
running a radio campaign, using social media
more and introducing a new e-Recruitment
System to streamline processes.

We have continued to focus on increasing the
uptake of mandatory training to ensure staff
are confident to treat patients safely. We have
increased the amount of training delivered in
team meetings at our bases by more than
400% this year. This has helped cut down
on the amount of time staff have to spend
travelling to training. 86% of staff completed
this essential refresher training in the last year.
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Equal opportunities in employment

Staff health and wellbeing

HCT is an equal opportunities employer.
Our Equality and Human Rights Policy aims to
ensure that all employees, irrespective of their
background, are supported to develop their
full potential. An equal opportunity statement
is included in all contracts of employment to
ensure staff are aware of their responsibilities.

One of our workforce priorities is to sustain
positive initiatives for staff health and wellbeing
in recognition of the significant transformational
change we are expecting from our staff and
the pressure they are working under.

We are committed to leading and embedding
fairness into the culture and behaviours of our
staff by:
• providing an environment where staff can
thrive, are confident to be themselves, feel
valued and treat each other with fairness,
dignity and respect
• helping and supporting staff to understand
the importance of personalisation, fairness
and diversity in the planning and delivery
of services
• showing zero tolerance towards bullying,
harassment, inappropriate language and
behaviour, and encouraging the reporting of
all cases of discrimination. This is evidenced
by the positive results in this area in the
2014 Annual Staff Survey
HCT is a two ticks symbol champion
(as awarded by Jobcentre plus) for recruiting
and supporting people with disabilities in the
workplace. The Occupational Health Service
and HR team provide clear guidance to managers
on the provision of support for staff with a
disability, including any reasonable
adjustments required.
National Workforce Race Equality Standard
and Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2)

For the 12 month period to March 2015, our
cumulative absence rate (Full Time Equivalent)
was 4.03%. This equates to 14.7 calendar
days per employee or, allowing for part time
working, 11.8 working days per Full Time
Equivalent. This shows a reduction from the
previous year’s rate of 4.07%.
(Note that sickness absence data is also
included in the notes to the Annual Accounts,
but this is reported on a different basis, ie as
per Department of Health extract from the
Electronic Staff Record Data Warehouse and
covering the period January to December 2014).
Building on our Staff Health and Wellbeing
Strategy and achievement in March 2014 of
‘Staying Healthy at Work’ accreditation as an
employer who promotes staff wellbeing, this
year we have signed up to the Public Health
Responsibility Deal and continued to develop
and promote interventions to support the
health and wellbeing of our staff. This work
has included procuring an improved Employee
Assistance Programme (staff helpline and
counselling), implementing a rolling programme
of ten minute health checks and continuing
to provide our very well evaluated Resilience
Training. We have also worked with Hertfordshire
Sports Partnership to promote activities set up
as part of the Workplace Challenge.
This programme of work will continue over
the coming year as we progress the actions
set out in our strategy.

The national Equality and Diversity Council
pledged its commitment to implement two
measures to improve equality across the NHS
starting in April 2015 - Workforce Race Equality
Standard (WRES) and the Equality Delivery
System (EDS2). Both will for the first time be
included in the 2015/16 Standard NHS Contract.
HCT has embraced the new mandatory EDS2
and will support the implementation of WRES
in 2015.
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Occupational Health
The Occupational Health (OH) function offers
a confidential service providing impartial
advice to managers and staff. Its aim is to
ensure the health and wellbeing of employees
is maintained, protected and promoted.
The Trust’s Occupational Health Service is
provided by East and North Herts Hospital
Trust, which is accredited under the SEQOHS
(Safe Effective Quality Occupational Health
Service) scheme.

• 393 appointments were attended or
telephoned for initial occupational health
assessments following referral
• 428 appointments were attended for
occupational immunisations. During these
appointments 2538 vaccines and blood
tests were given for Hepatitis B, varicella
(chickenpox), measles, mumps, rubella
and TB (tuberculosis)
• 137 eye care vouchers were issued

In 2014/15:
• There were 34 sharps and body fluid injuries
reported to the Occupational Health Service

• 802 pre-placement assessments were
undertaken and 37 new employees
attended for occupational health
pre-placement assessments

• Seasonal flu vaccination was offered to
all staff with direct patient contact.
Clinics were held at various locations

• 402 employees were referred to the
Occupational Health Service
Staff seasonal flu vaccination
Staff group

Total No.
of staff 2014/15

Percentage of
eligible staff
vaccinated 2014/15

Percentage of
eligible staff
vaccinated 2013/14

55

40%

34.2%

Qualified nurses

1023

32%

32.3%

Other professionally qualified staff

643

53%

42.5%

Support staff

508

58%

57.9%

2229

44.7%

41.6%

Doctors

Total

Signed:

Date:

David Law
Chief Executive Officer
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The Trust Board

The Trust Board consists of a chair, appointed
through the Trust Development Authority
(TDA); four non-executive directors (also
appointed through the TDA ), and four voting
executive directors.
The Board is also supported by a non-voting
non-executive director (designate) and two
non-voting executive directors.

The Board has also subscribed to principles of
Board Etiquette as set out in the NHS Integrated
Governance Handbook.

The Board is responsible for setting and
developing the strategic direction of the
organisation, sustaining business viability
and holding the executive directors to
account for all aspects of the organisation’s
activities, including quality and safety of
patient services, financial management and
legal compliance. The role also includes
seeking assurances from the executive
directors that risks to the organisation are
being appropriately assessed and managed.

Throughout 2014/15, the Board has undertaken
a continued programme of collective and
individual development, and this will continue
through 2015/16. The Board was also the first
in the Country to pilot a 360 Appraisal model
devised by the NHS Leadership Academy.

In 2014/15, the HCT Board met formally in
public on seven occasions. This was on
alternate months between May 2014 to
March 2015 and an extra-ordinary meeting
was held in June 2014 for the Board to agree
the annual accounts, annual report and quality
account. The annual public meeting to present
the 2013/14 annual report and accounts was
held in September 2014.

The voting members of the Board also
form the corporate trustee for Hertfordshire
NHS charitable funds, in respect of which a
separate report and accounts are published.

In addition, and to ensure Board awareness of
issues at operational level as affecting patients,
the Board has been hearing patient stories at
the start of Board meetings in public.

The Board also holds board briefing or
development sessions and themed engagement
events with patients, carers and other
stakeholders.
The Board has a duty to operate in a way that
is transparent and to comply with best practice
in probity. To this end, the Board has signed up
to following the Nolan Principles of good
governance, The NHS Code of Conduct and
Accountability and The NHS Code of Openness.

Annual Report and Accounts 2014-2015

59

Directors’ report
The Trust Board

Declan O’Farrell CBE (FCCA)
Chair*
Declan was appointed Chair of Hertfordshire Community Health Services in February 2010.
He was Chair of West Herts College in Dacorum for eight years from 2003, leading its
transformation from a failing college to outstanding. Previously he was Chair of the Training
& Enterprise Council in NW London and Business Link London. He was awarded a CBE in 2000
for services to businesses in London. ACCA qualified he held senior financial roles in Grand
Metropolitan Group and London Transport, becoming MD of a bus division, which following
privatisation, was successfully listed on the London Stock exchange. He has maintained an
interest in internet product development in the entertainment industry and investing in
growth businesses.
In addition to Chairing the Trust Board, Declan also chairs the Strategy and Resources
Committee and is a member of the Healthcare Governance and Remuneration Committees.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
(Re-appointed in 2013 to 31/03/15 and extended in 2015 to 31/03/17)
Anne McPherson MBE (RFN, RN, RM, DipN, MA)
Non Executive Director*
A nurse and midwife, with extensive board level experience as Chief Nurse for Hertfordshire
Health Authorities in the East and the West of the county, as well as a number of Director of
Nursing posts including an integrated NHS Trust.
A Specialist Advisor for the Care Quality Commission, with extensive expertise in quality improvement.
Anne has served as a Non-Executive Director for Dacorum PCT, West Hertfordshire PCT, and
Trustee for Isabel Hospice and as the Executive Officer for the Nurse Directors Association.
Currently she is an Independent Lay Chair for NHS England Hertfordshire and South Midlands
Area Team and Essex Area Team Performers List Decision Panels.
In January 2015 Anne was awarded the MBE for services to nursing.
Anne is Chair of the Healthcare Governance and Remuneration Committees and is a member of
the Audit Committee and Strategy and Resources Committee.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
(Re-appointed in 2013 to 31/03/15 and extended in 2015 to 31/03/17)
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Jeff Phillips (BSc, ACMA, FCT)
Non Executive Director*
Jeff was appointed in September 2011 and is a qualified accountant. He has had a wide
and varied career in the telecommunication and chemical industries. He has also served as a
non-executive director for Luton Community Services and is currently Chair of CHUMS, the
bereavement and trauma social enterprise based in Bedfordshire. He is Vice Chair of the School
Governors of Manland School Harpenden and a member of Hertfordshire County Council
Schools’ Appeals Panel.
Jeff was appointed as Chair of the Trust’s Audit Committee from March 2012 and he is a
member of the Healthcare Governance Committee, Strategy and Resources Committee,
Charitable Funds Committee and Remuneration Committee.
Period of Appointment: 01/09/11 - 31/08/15
(Re-appointed in 2015 to 31/08/17
Alan Russell (HND)
Non Executive Director*
Alan was appointed NED in April 2010. He was previously Managing Director of Logica
Consulting UK, prior to which he was the MD of Atos Consulting and Chair of its global
consulting Board. Both companies engaged in complex transformational change programmes
for public and private sector organisations. He was a Director of the Management Consultancies
Association and President in 2005.
Alan is Vice Chair of the Trust Board and Senior Independent Director (SID). He is also Chair of the
Foundation Trust Committee and a member of the Strategy and Resources Committee.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
(Re-appointed in 2013 to 31/03/15 and extended in 2015 to 31/03/17)
Dr. Linda Sheridan (FFPH, MRCGP, MSc)
Non-Executive Director*
Linda joined Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust as a non-executive director in June 2013. Linda
qualified as a doctor from Trinity College, Dublin and moved to the UK for post-graduate training
in general practice. Linda worked in primary care in Bedfordshire for over 15 years, before
training to be a public health medicine consultant and worked in that capacity in London,
Hertfordshire, Cambridgeshire and East of England region. She retired from her post as deputy
regional director in March 2013.
During her time in both specialties, she has led many programmes aimed at improving the
quality and resilience of health services, including GP prescribing, diabetes care, cancer
screening, child health, maternity services, healthcare associated infection, emergency planning,
the 2009 ‘flu pandemic and NHS preparedness for the 2012 Olympic Games.
Linda is a member of the Healthcare Governance Committee and Foundation Trust Committee and is
also Chair of the Charitable Funds Committee.
Period of Appointment: 01/06/13 - 30/05/17
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Brenda Griffiths
Non-Executive Director (Designate)
Brenda joined Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust as a non-executive director (designate) in
June 2013. A trained nurse, she worked in the NHS for 25 years until 2003 when she was
appointed as an Independent member of Hertfordshire Police Authority. She remained on the
Authority until its abolition in 2012, working at local, regional and national level. She was Chair
of the Standards Committee of Hertsmere Borough Council 2005 – 2011. The office of the
Police and Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire appointed her to the Community Scrutiny
Panel for Police Stop and Search in January 2015.
Brenda is an Associate Member of the College of Policing and acts as a non-service assessor for
senior selection, promotion, graduate and direct entry candidates. She sits on the Board of
Hertfordshire Crimestoppers, the Executive Committee of the League of St Bartholomew Nurses
and is an active member of the local committees for both Peace Hospice Care Watford and the
Royal Medical Benevolent Fund.
Brenda is a member of the Strategy and Resources Committee, Audit Committee, Foundation
Trust Committee and Charitable Funds Committee.
Period of Appointment: 01/06/13 - 31/05/15 (Honorary Contract)
(Extended in 2015 to 31/05/17)
David Law (BA Hons)
Chief Executive*
David took up post as Chief Executive in March 2012 and he has extensive knowledge of the
health service in Hertfordshire. He has also worked in primary care and community services in
London prior to working in Hertfordshire. He worked in a number of planning roles in health
organisations in the County during the 1990s before joining West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS
Trust in 2001 as Director of Strategy. In 2004 he was appointed Chief Executive of the Trust, a
post he held till 2007. After leaving Hertfordshire, David worked at Healthcare for London,
initially focusing on the organisation of acute services in the capital and then on end of life care.
He worked extensively for the NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement. Before coming
to Hertfordshire Community Trust he worked on the Transforming Community Services
programme in Lambeth and Southwark and in Tower Hamlets.
David’s Portfolio: Overall leadership of HCT; Trust strategy; Foundation Trust application
process; Communications and engagement.

62

Annual Report and Accounts 2014-2015

Directors’ report
The Trust Board

Dr. Caroline Allum (MBBS, MRCP, FRCR)
Medical Director*
Caroline joined us from Whittington Health, an integrated care organisation delivering both
acute and community services, in November 2013. She is a consultant radiologist and was
Associate Medical Director. In her leadership and clinical roles she is used to working with a
wide range of specialities and also across organisational boundaries.
Recently listed as one of the Health Service Journal's 50 most inspirational women leaders, she
also reached the final of the HSJ Clinical Leadership awards in the category Clinical Leader 2012.
She is committed to ensuring quality and responsiveness of services and excellent patient
experience. She is also passionate about developing teams and the leaders of the future.
Caroline’s Portfolio: Professional leadership for medical staff; Clinical effectiveness/ Audit;
Research & Development lead; Medical advisor to the board; Caldicott Guardian, Controlled
Drugs Accountable officer, Medical revalidation.
Clare Hawkins (BSc, RN, NDN, Dip Nurse Practitioner)
Director of Quality & Governance/Chief Nurse*
Clare joined HCT as Director of Quality and Governance in March 2011, having previously
worked as Deputy Director and Director of Nursing and Quality in NHS Hertfordshire. Clare is a
Registered Nurse, District Nurse and Nurse Practitioner.
Since 1995 her NHS management experience includes a number of posts in London and as
Director of Nursing and Operations and Deputy Chief Executive for Dacorum PCT. Her particular
areas of interest are patient safety, patient experience and Clare is the executive lead for nurses
and Allied Health Professionals on the Board. Clare is the Board lead for safeguarding and is the
Director of Infection Prevention and Control.
Clare’s Portfolio: Clinical leadership; Patient safety; Patient experience; Safeguarding lead; Risk
management; Nurse and AHP advisor to the board; Director of Infection Prevention and
Control, Health Scrutiny lead, Corporate Governance.
Phil Bradley (CPFA, Dip.M, MCIM)
Director of Finance*
Phil joined the Trust as interim Director of Finance in January 2015 and was appointed as
substantive Director from 1 April 2015. He has worked in healthcare since 1982 and has held a
number of Director roles in both NHS Commissioning and Provider organisations. Phil has also
worked within the local Hertfordshire Health Economy previously. From 2004-2005 he worked
at the Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Strategic Health Authority based in St Albans and from
2005-2011 at West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust.
Phil is a qualified member of both the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy
and the Chartered Institute of Marketing, and sits as a member on the Healthcare Financial
Management Association’s national Financial Management & Research Committee.
Phil’s Portfolio: Financial management; Performance information;
Contract management; Business planning; IM&T; Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO); Estates;
Financial governance; Business and commercial development.

Annual Report and Accounts 2014-2015

63

Directors’ report
The Trust Board

Julie Hoare (RGN, RSCN, Dip.HV)
Director of Operations
After joining the organisation as Assistant Director of Operations in September 2009,
Julie was appointed Director of Operations in March 2012, having acted up in the role since
December 2010. Since starting in the NHS in 1984, Julie has spent the last 30 years working in
management roles, across Children’s and Adult’s Services in both community and acute settings.
Julie is also a registered nurse and health visitor and is particularly interested in service
transformation and staff development.
Julie’s Portfolio: Operational management; Service transformation; Emergency planning
and resilience; General Practitioner communications; Integrated care.
Alison Shelley (BA (Hons); MCIPD)
Director of HR and Organisational Development
Alison joined the Trust in March 2012 and has over 20 years of HR experience in the private sector
in large, complex organisations in the aerospace and health care sectors. Alison was appointed
to her first management role in 1994. Her experience covers a breadth of HR disciplines, including
strategy formulation, talent management, leadership development, organisational change and
employee engagement. From 2006, prior to joining the NHS, Alison undertook global HR
leadership roles for GE Healthcare.
Alison’s Portfolio: Human resources; Organisation design; Staff engagement; Staff education
and development; Workforce informatics; Trade union relationships; Equality and diversity.

The following were also members of the Board during the year 2014/15:
Barry Jenkins
Director of Finance* (from 02/12/13 until 06/02/15)
* Voting member of the Board
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Register of interests

Board Members as at 31 March 2015
Name and title

Interests declared as at 31 March 2013

Declan O'Farrell*
Chair

Director: Castletown Corporation Ltd, Castletown Homes Ltd.

Alan Russell*
Non-Executive Director

Director: Bury Lake Young Mariners Limited.
(Prospective FT) Member of West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust.
Member of Herts Urgent Care.

Anne McPherson*
Non-Executive Director

Independent Lay Chair of Performers List Decision Panel:
NHS England Hertfordshire and South Midland Area Team.
Independent Lay Chair of Performers List Decision Panel:
NHS England Essex Area Team.
Friend of Parkwood Surgery, Hemel Hempstead, Herts.

Jeff Phillips*
Non-Executive Director

School Governor, Manland School, Harpenden.
Lay Member HCC Schools Admissions Appeals Panel.
Chair of CHUMS.

Dr. Linda Sheridan*
Non-Executive Director

Part Time Public Health Consultant with Cambridgeshire County Council.
Daughter Employed in Operations Directorate, NHS Midlands and East.

Brenda Griffiths
Non-Executive Director (Designate)

Member East and North Herts NHS Trust.
Associate Member, The College of Policing.
Husband employed by UCL on Royal Free Campus.

David Law*
Chief Executive

Director: Law Consulting Ltd.

Dr. Caroline Allum*
Medical Director

AllergyUK: Member of steering group for AllergyUK Nurses appeal.
Ngage Health: Husband is founder.

Clare Hawkins*
Director of Quality and Governance/
Chief Nurse

None

Phil Bradley*
Interim Director of Finance

Director, Bradley Slade Consulting Limited.

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

Trustee of “Stand By Me” charity.

Alison Shelley
Director of HR and
Organisational Development

Board Member: NHS Elect Members’ Advisory Board.

Board Members no longer in post as at 31 March 2013
Name and title

Interests declared

Barry Jenkins*
Director of Finance
(until 06/02/15)

None

* Voting member of the Board
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Audit

Emergency preparedness

The Trust has an audit committee which is
chaired by a financially qualified non- executive
director and has two other non-executive
directors as members.

The focus of HCT’s emergency preparedness
and response and resilience work during
2014/15 has been to continue to work
towards full compliance with the NHS England
Core Standards for Emergency Preparedness,
Resilience and Response (EPRR) self-assessment
which set out the minimum standards which
NHS organisations and providers of NHS funded
care must meet.

As at 31 March 2015, membership is:
Chair:
Jeff Phillips

(Non-Executive Director)

Members:
Anne McPherson (Non-Executive Director)*
Brenda Griffiths (Non-Executive Director
Designate)
*Also Chairs the Trust’s Healthcare Governance
and Remuneration committees. Conversely, the
Chair of the Audit Committee sits on the Trust’s
Healthcare Governance Committee.
The Audit Committee met five times during
2014/15. This was four standing meetings and
an extra-ordinary meeting to review the Trust’s
annual accounts, annual report, quality account
and other mandatory submissions.
In 2014/15 internal audit services have been
provided by PwC and the external auditors
were Ernst & Young.
The cost of external audit for work undertaken
in 2014/15 was £56,972 plus VAT. (2013/14
also = £56,972 + VAT). The external auditors
have not undertaken any non-audit work which
may have given rise to conflict of interest or
compromised the audit function.
As far as the directors are aware there is no
relevant audit information of which the NHS
body’s auditors are unaware and that the
directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as directors in order to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditors
are aware of that information.
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The organisation is now fully or substantially
compliant in four of the eight domains with
the focus for 2015/16 being on ensuring the
organisation is substantially or fully compliant
in all domains. Work to achieve this has included
ensuring we have appropriate governance
arrangements in place, reviewing response
plans, working with partner agencies to
ensure a coordinated approach to response
and ensuring our on-call staff are
appropriately trained.
Work has been undertaken throughout the
year to support the preparation for winter
ensuring that lessons have been learnt from
2013/14. The organisation’s Escalation plan
has been updated and all business continuity
plans reviewed to ensure they fit with this
Escalation plan.
No formal incident response has been set up
during the year all though business continuity
arrangements have been implemented in
response to utilities and IT failures allowing
the testing of plans to take place.
The focus for 2015/16 will be on the training
of key response staff and the testing of
response plans. Revised Chemical, Biological,
Radiological and Nuclear response guidelines
are expected during the year and will require
HCT to assess how it is best able to respond
to this type of incident.
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Health and Safety

Security management

The Trust is committed to the health, safety
and welfare of all patients, staff, visitors and
contractors who use Trust premises and
support patients in community settings.

The Trust has both a Non-Executive and
Executive Director lead for security
management one of our Health and Safety
Advisers is also an accredited Local Security
Management Specialist (LSMS). He ensures
that both proactive and reactive security
measures are carried out to standards set
by NHS Protect, the national NHS security
management agency set up to protect the
NHS against crime and fraud.

The Trust currently employs two Health and
Safety Advisers. The Trust has identified a need
to improve its health and safety processes and
procedures and in Spring 2015 external
consultants were brought in to carry out a
major review. It is hoped that this will allow us
to monitor compliance more robustly and also
ensure that managers and staff are more
aware of their responsibilities.
Recent changes in the way that the estate is
managed internally has allowed us to make
some significant safety improvements to
our premises.
The responsibility for fire safety, security
management and health and safety belongs
to the Director of Finance.

The LSMS works to protect staff from violence
and aggression and to develop a security
conscious culture throughout the Trust.
We are fortunate that the number of incidents
of violence and aggression are low (10% of
what might be found elsewhere in the NHS
as is typical for Community Trusts). We have
about 30 incidents a year reported, most of
these being minor ‘clinical assaults’ by patients
where the patients involved are suffering from
dementia or impaired cognition due to physical
health conditions. The number of possible
‘criminal’ incidents is therefore very low though
we have had to involve the Police in a couple
of instances where threats have been made
against members of staff or their families.
In spring 2014, the Trust self-assessment
against the NHS Protect Quality Standards
for 2013-14 achieved a Green rating overall.
There were some areas of work where
improvement is required and remedial action
where needed was identified in the Trust’s first
Security Management Strategy.
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Counter fraud policies and procedures

Information Governance

The Secretary of State’s Directions 2004 on
work to counter fraud and corruption require
NHS bodies to appoint a Local Counter Fraud
Specialist (LCFS). Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust has an accredited and nominated LCFS
who reports directly to the Director of Finance.

As at 31 March 2015 the Trust met Level 2
(Satisfactory) of the Health and Social Care
Information Centre’s Information Governance
Toolkit, which enables Trusts to assess
themselves against Department of Health
Information Governance policies and
standards. The Trust had a score of 85%
which was an increase on the score of 66%
for 2013/14. Improvements included better
compliance with the requirements of the
Data Protection Act and a slight increase from
95% to 96% in the number of staff having
information governance training in year.

The Trust has a Counter Fraud and Anti-Bribery
Policy and Response Plan that is communicated
to all staff via the induction process and is held
on the Trust’s extranet. The work plan for
2014/15 has been completed and the plan for
2015/16 has been agreed. All investigations and
progress against the work plan are monitored
by the Director of Finance on a monthly basis
and reported to the Audit Committee on a
quarterly basis.
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During 2014/15, the Trust had one lapse of
data security that was logged and investigated
as a serious incident (compared to 10 in
2013/14 and 11 in 2012/13). Full details are
given in the Trust’s Annual Governance
Statement which is included in the Annual
Accounts section of this report.
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Access to Records
The Trust must respond to requests made under
the Data Protection Act 1998 and Access to
Health Records Act 1990 (for records of
deceased patients only) within 40 calendar
days. For the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March
2015 the Trust received 442 requests. 321 have
been completed within the prescribed timescale
meeting 92% compliance. Of those that did
not meet legislative timescales this was due to
the complexity of requests, for example where
multiple services where involved.

One complaint was made in year to the
Information Commissioner concerning noncompliance with the statutory timescale for
response. The Trust acknowledged noncompliance in this specific case and reported
the reasons and remedial actions being taken.
As a consequence, the Information
Commissioner confirmed that no further
action would be taken against the Trust.

The following chart shows the source of
requests. It clearly shows that most requests
come via a solicitor or person representing a
patient for legal purposes.
Access to Health Records sources of requests
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Freedom of Information and charges
for information
The Trust must respond to Freedom of
Information requests within 20 working days.
For the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015
the Trust received 145 requests.

The Trust complies with Treasury Guidance on
setting charges for information. (See Annex 6
of “Managing Public Money” - HM Treasury,
February 2010).

Out of the 145 requests the Trust met the
target of 20 working days on 142 which is
98%. The three breaches were due to poor
reporting and in June 2014 a new system was
introduced for recording requests, allowing
the Trust to monitor management of requests
more closely. Since this change the Trust has
met the 100% compliance level in accordance
with the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

The Trust does not normally charge for
information. However, it reserves the right to
charge for information that incurs high
photocopying or retrieval costs or where the
information is requested in a format that incurs
extra costs. People making requests under the
Freedom of Information Act are informed in
advance of any costs that will be charged.

The charts show the types and source of
requests respectively.
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Source of request 2014/15
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Directors’ report
Financial governance and disclosure

Financial Reporting

Off payroll engagements

The Trust reports under the National Health
Service Act 2006 c. 41 Schedule 15:
Preparation of annual accounts.

Following the Review of Tax Arrangements
of Public Sector Appointees published by the
Chief Secretary to the Treasury on 23 May
2012, departments and their arms- length
bodies, of which the NHS is considered to be
an arms-length body of the Department of
Health, are required to publish information
on their highly paid and senior off-payroll
engagements.

Pension liabilities
Pension liabilities are treated as payables in
the accounts. The accounting policy 7.6 refers
to the treatment of pensions within the Trust’s
accounts. The Remuneration Report (page 79)
refers to the treatment of pensions for
Executive Directors.
Better Payments Practice Code
The Trust is required to comply with the
Better Practice Payment Code (BPPC). The code
requires organisations to pay 95% of suppliers
within 30 days of receiving a valid invoice.
The cumulative position opposite shows
achievement of target by value but the
target by volume was missed by 3%.
Prompt payments code
The Trust has not signed up to the prompt
payment code but aims to pay all invoices in a
timely manner.
Exit packages and severance payments
These can be found in the notes to the accounts.

The disclosure is required for all engagements
in place at 31 March 2015 that are more than
six months and for more than £220 per day or
those new in the year that meet these criteria.
The tables on the right show the necessary
information.
The Trust policy is to have confirmation for all
off-payroll arrangements whereby contractors
who are self-employed or paid through a
personal services limited company are required
to sign a Contract for Consultancy Services.
This contract will also be signed by contractors
who earn more than £220 a day and who
are paid through a third party or agency.
All contractors will have specified pre-agreed
end date in their contracts, which gives them
a maximum contract period of 6 months.
Where the contractor is self-employed, they
must provide evidence to demonstrate that they
are registered to pay tax prior to commencing
work (for example by supplying their business
accounts and filed tax return or, if they are
newly self-employed, their form SA250).
If the contractor fails to provide evidence
when requested or if this evidence does not
provide assurance that the contractor is
complying with HMT requirements, then the
contractor’s engagement will be terminated in
accordance with the terms of the Contract for
Consultancy Services.
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Better Payment Practice Code - % by value and volume of invoices paid within 30 days
100%
98%
96%
94%
92%
90%
88%
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

◼Target

Sep

◼% Volume

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

◼% Value

Off payroll engagements
Existing engagements

No.

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015

17

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

13

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

3

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

1

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

New engagements

No.

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between1 April 2014
and 31 March 2015

6

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the right to
request assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

6

Number for whom assurance has been requested

6

Of which:
assurance has been received

1

assurance has not been received

5

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with significant
financial responsibility, during the year

1

Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or senior officers with
significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This figure includes both off-payroll
and on-payroll engagements

12
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Remuneration and the
Remuneration Committee
HCT has a Remuneration Committee which
makes decisions to recommend to the HCT
Board on the remuneration, terms, and service
and performance related pay of the Chief
Executive and Executive Directors and other
members of HCT staff on Very Senior Manager
(VSM) terms and conditions.
The Remuneration Committee also reviews all
severance payments as required by the Trust
Development Authority (TDA) Accountability
Framework. This relates to all staff including
and below Executive Director level.
Membership consists of:
• Anne McPherson: Non-Executive Director
and Chair of the Remuneration Committee

During 2014/2015 the Committee met on four
occasions and the main items addressed were:
• redundancy payments following organisational
change (and which are reported to the TDA
for approval where necessary)
• salary, terms and conditions for new
Executive Directors (substantive or interim)
The Chair and Non-Executive Directors are
remunerated at rates prescribed by the Secretary
of State for Health. Executive Directors are
remunerated as set out in the NHS’s “Very
Senior Managers” pay framework (VSM)
and senior managers are paid in accordance
with NHS “Agenda for Change” pay scales.
The Trust does not operate performance
related pay for any tier of staff.

• Declan O’Farrell: Chair of HCT
• Jeff Phillips: Non-Executive Director and
Chair of the Audit Committee
The following may also be in attendance:
• David Law: Chief Executive
• Alison Shelley: Director of Human Resources
and Organisational Development
• Executive Directors (except when their
remuneration or terms and conditions of
service are discussed):
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Executive Directors are appointed on substantive,
permanent contracts, with a notice period of
three months (unless there is a temporary
vacancy, in which case an interim Director may
be appointed). In the event of termination by
the Trust, any payment due will be paid in
accordance with the reason for termination
and the contract of employment. The current
Medical Director for HCT is appointed on a
medical Consultant Contract, remunerated
in accordance with the national medical
pay framework.
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The Trust Development Authority (TDA) oversees
all HCT Executive Director remuneration.
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the
relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and
the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid
director in Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
in the financial year 2014/15 was £142,500
(2013/14, £142,500). This was 4.83 times
(2013/14, 4.9 times) the median remuneration
of the workforce, which was £29,296
(2013/14, £29,296).

Total remuneration includes salary,
nonconsolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind as well as severance
payments. It does not include employer
pension contributions and the cash equivalent
transfer value of pensions.
For the purposes of determining the highestpaid director, any interim directors have been
excluded. The payments reflected in the
salaries and allowances for interim directors
are the total payments made to the respective
agencies and include VAT and agency fees.
It is therefore not possible to determine the
basic pay element. Consequently, the Trust has
used the highest-paid permanently employed
director in determining the pay multiple.

In 2014/15, one employee received
remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
director (2013/14, one). Remuneration ranged
from £2,600 to £149,100 (2013/14 £14,200 £145,200).
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Remuneration report
Board salaries and pensions

Board salaries and allowances 2014/15
Name

Dates

(a)
Salary
(bands of
5,000)

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
Expense Performance Long term
All
payments
pay and performance pension(taxable
bonuses
pay and
related
total to
(bands of
bonuses
benefits
nearest
5,000)
(bands of
(bands of
£100)
5,000)
2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(bands of
5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Declan O'Farrell
Chair

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

20 - 25

0

0

0

0

20 -25

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Jeff Phillips
Non-Executive Director

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Dr Linda Sheridan
Non-Executive Director

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Brenda Griffiths
Non-Executive Director
(Designate)

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

David Law
Chief Executive

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

140 - 145

0

0

0

0

140 - 145

Dr Caroline Allum
Medical Director

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

105 - 110

0

0

0

42.5 - 45

145 - 150

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality &
Governance/Chief Nurse

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

85 - 90

0

0

0

0

85 - 90

Barry Jenkins
Director of Finance

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

90 - 95

0

0

0

17.5 - 20

110 - 115

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

90 - 95

0

0

0

0

90 - 95

Alison Shelley
Director of Human
Resources & Organisational
Development

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

100 - 105

0

0

0

17.5 - 20

115 - 120

Phil Bradley*
Interim Director of Finance

1/4/2014 31/3/2015

40 - 45

0

0

0

0

40 - 45

Notes
* Phil Bradley was paid under an off payroll arrangement
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Board salaries and allowances 2013/14
Name

Dates

(a)
Salary
(bands of
5,000)

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
Expense Performance Long term
All
payments
pay and performance pension(taxable
bonuses
pay and
related
total to
(bands of
bonuses
benefits
nearest
5,000)
(bands of
(bands of
£100)
5,000)
2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(bands of
5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Declan O'Farrell
Chair

1/4/2013 31/3/2014

20 - 25

0

0

0

0

20 -25

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

1/4/2013 31/3/2014

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

1/4/2013 31/3/2014

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Jeff Phillips
Non-Executive Director

1/4/2013 31/3/2014

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Brenda Griffiths
Non-Executive Director

1/6/2013 31/3/2014

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Dr Linda Sheridan
Non-Executive Director

1/6/2013 31/3/2014

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Neil Johnston
Non-Executive Director

1/4/2013 31/5/2013

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

David Law
Chief Executive

1/4/2013 31/3/2014

140 - 145

0

0

0

27.5 - 30

165 - 170

Sean McKeever
Director of Finance & Commerce

1/4/2013 26/7/2013

35 - 40

0

0

0

40 - 42.5

75 - 80

Deborah Hayman*
Interim Director of Finance

19/8/2013 1/12/2013

75 - 80

0

0

0

0

75 - 80

Barry Jenkins
Director of Finance

2/12/2013 31/3/2014

35 - 40

0

0

0

2.5 - 5

40 - 45

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

1/4/2013 31/3/2014

90 - 95

0

0

0

10 - 12.5

105 - 110

Alison Shelley
Director of Human Resources &
Organisational Development

1/4/2013 31/3/2014

100 - 105

0

0

0

32.5 - 35

130 - 135

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality & Governance

1/4/2013 31/3/2014

85 - 90

0

0

0

25 - 27.5

110 - 115

Table continues on the following page
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Board salaries and allowances 2013/14 (continued)
Name

Dates

(a)
Salary
(bands of
5,000)

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
Expense Performance Long term
All
payments
pay and performance pension(taxable
bonuses
pay and
related
total to
(bands of
bonuses
benefits
nearest
5,000)
(bands of
(bands of
£100)
5,000)
2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(bands of
5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Dr Hemel Desai
Medical Director

1/4/2013 25/7/2013

35 - 40

0

0

0

2.5 - 5

40 - 45

Dr Shanker Vijay*
Interim Medical Director

26/7/2013 17/11/2013

30 - 35

0

0

0

17.5 - 20

30 - 35

Dr Caroline Allum
Medical Director

18/11/2013 31/3/2014

35 - 40

0

0

0

17.5 - 20

45 - 50

John Curnow
Director of Strategy

1/4/2013 31/3/2014

75 - 80

0

0

0

40 - 42.5

115 - 120

Notes
* These officers were employed on an agency basis under temporary contracts and the salary above is the total payment made to the employing agency.
• Liz Cox was Interim Director of Finance for the period 27 July 2013 to 18 August 2013. No additional remuneration was received during this period
for acting as Interim Director.
• Deborah Hayman was Interim Director of Finance for the period 19 August 2013 to 1 December 2013.
• Dr Shanker Vijay was Interim Medical Director for the period 26 July 2013 to 17 November 2013.
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Pension benefits 2014/15
Name and title

Real
Real
Total
Lump sum
Cash
Cash
Real
Employers
increase in increase in accrued at age 60 equivalent equivalent increase contributions
pension
pension
pension related to
transfer
transfer
in cash
to
at age
lump
at age
accrued
value at
value at equivalent stakeholder
60
sum
60 at
pension at 31 March 31 March
transfer
pension
at age
31 March 31 March
2014
2015
value
60
2015
2015
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
2,500)
2,500)
5,000)
5,000)
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

David Law
Chief Executive

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

40 - 50

140 - 145

909

968

34

Dr Caroline Allum
Medical Director

0 - 2.5

5 - 7.5

20 - 25

70 - 75

349

410

52

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality &
Governance

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

35 -40

115 - 120

655

693

20

Barry Jenkins
Director of Finance

0 - 2.5

0

0-5

0

11

23

10

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

30 - 35

95 - 100

557

594

22

Alison Shelley
Director of Human
Resources & Organisational
Development

0 - 2.5

0

5 - 10

0

37

56

18
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Pension benefits 2013/14
Name and title

Real
Real
Total
Lump sum
Cash
Cash
Real
Employers
increase in increase in accrued at age 60 equivalent equivalent increase contributions
pension
pension
pension related to
transfer
transfer
in cash
to
at age
lump
at age
accrued
value at
value at equivalent stakeholder
60
sum
60 at
pension at 31 March 31 March
transfer
pension
at age
31 March 31 March
2013
2014
value
60
2014
2014
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
2,500)
2,500)
5,000)
5,000)
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

David Law
Chief Executive

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

45 - 50

135 - 140

840

909

50

Sean McKeever
Director of Finance
& Commerce

0 - 2.5

5 - 7.5

35 - 40

115 - 120

714

859

41

Barry Jenkins
Director of Finance

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

35 -40

115 - 120

655

693

20

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

0 - 2.5

0

0-5

0

11

23

10

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

30 - 35

95 - 100

557

594

22

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality
& Governance

0 - 2.5

0

5 - 10

0

37

56

18

Alison Shelley
Director of Human
Resources & Organisational
Development

0 - 2.5

-0 - -2.5

0-5

0-5

33

40

2

Dr Hemel Desai
Medical Director

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

20 - 25

60 - 65

297

349

17

Dr Caroline Allum
Medical Director

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

10 - 15

35 - 40

160

184

1

John Curnow
Director of Strategy

0 - 2.5

0

5 - 10

0

47

66

17

80

£000

Cash equivalent transfer values (CETV)

Real increase in CETV

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the
actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The benefits valued
are the member’s accrued benefits and any
contingent spouse’s pension payable from
the scheme.

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively
funded by the employer. It takes account of
the increase in accrued pension due to
inflation, contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred
from another scheme or arrangement) and
uses common market evaluation factors for
the start and end of the period.
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Annual Accounts
Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities
Finance
as the Accountable Officer of the Trust
Statement of accounting officer’s responsibilities
The Chief Executive of the NHS has
designated that the Chief Executive should be
the Accountable Officer to the Trust.
The relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set out in the Accountable Officers
Memorandum issued by the Chief Executive of the NHS Trust Development Authority. These
include ensuring that:
• there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds and assets and
assist in the implementation of corporate governance;
• value for money is achieved from the resources available to the trust;
• the expenditure and income of the trust has been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and conform to the authorities which govern them;
• effective and sound financial management systems are in place; and
• annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of State with the
approval of the Treasury to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end of the
financial year and the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for
the year.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out
in my letter of appointment as an Accountable Officer.

Signed:

Date:

David Law
Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the Accounts
The Directors are required under the
National Health Service Act 2006 to
prepare accounts for each financial year.
The Secretary of State, with the approval of the Treasury, directs that these accounts give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the trust and of the income and expenditure, recognised
gains and losses and cash flows for the year. In preparing those accounts, directors are required to:
• apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary of State with the
approval of the Treasury;
• make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the accounts.
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the trust and to enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned direction of the Secretary
of State. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the trust and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the accounts.

By order of the Board

Signed:

Date:

David Law
Chief Executive Officer

Signed:

Date:

Phil Bradley
Director of Finance
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SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Board is accountable for internal control. As Accountable Officer, and Chief Executive of
this Board, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports
the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding quality
standards and public funds. I also have responsibility for safeguarding the organisation’s assets
for which I am personally responsible as set out in the Accountable Officer Memorandum.
My responsibilities as Accountable Officer in respect of internal controls are supported by the
Audit Committee, the Healthcare Governance Committee, the Strategy & Resources Committee,
The Foundation Trust Committee, the Executive Team and established Groups and Forums as
described under “The Governance Framework of the Trust” below. Controls are also reviewed
by the Trust’s internal and external auditors.
The Trust has been held to account for its performance by the National Health Service Trust
Development Authority (TDA) through its accountability framework. This is exercised through
regular Integrated Delivery Meetings (IDMs) between the Trust and the TDA, the monthly
submission of Board Statements/mirrored Monitor Licensing conditions and compliance with
annual planning submission requirements.
The Trust worked closely with the following organisations which commission and contract with
the Trust for services:
1 East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
2 Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group
3 NHS England
4 Hertfordshire County Council
5 West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group
We have also:
• Continued to work in conjunction with the County Council on integrated approaches to care
in alignment with government policy and with all other NHS organisations in Hertfordshire in
respect of health economy-wide issues or on specific matters of mutual interest. This includes
integrated care with Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT); winter
pressures response as a “whole system” issue and the development of pilot projects in conjunction
with commissioners; and
• Been an active participant in Your Care, Your Future - Case For Change, which launched in
2014 and which is a strategic review of the whole health system across west Hertfordshire
and which is being led by Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group
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The Trust has engaged with service users in year through a variety of means. These include:
• An observer from Healthwatch Hertfordshire attending meetings of the Trust Board
• Board engagement events, whereby service users and carers are invited to attend an event
which has a specific theme
• A stakeholder event with presentations in support of the Trust’s Annual General Meeting in
September 2014
• The Board hearing patient stories before Board meetings
• Having lay representatives on Trust committees
• Patient/carer involvement in reviewing policies
• Patient surveys
• Memo to Members, circulated to the Trust’s aspirant foundation trust public membership
• Board members visiting Trust sites/services and talking to service users (and staff)
The County Council, District and Borough Councils also have an overview of the Trust’s performance,
through the Health Scrutiny Committee, which is hosted by Hertfordshire County Council.
I am the nominated officer for the Trust in respect of registration with the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) under the Health and Social Care Act 2006. The Trust was registered in
2010 with no conditions attached to registration.
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THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK OF THE ORGANISATION
In 2014/15, the Trust Board was supported by the following Committees, with membership and
attendance records for meetings in 2014/15 as indicated (number attended/total meetings held
in year eligible to attend).
Trust
Audit Healthcare
Board Committee Governance
Committee

Strategy & Remuneration Foundation
Resources
Committee
Trust
Committee Committee

Charitable
Funds
Trustees

Charitable
Funds
Committee

Operational
Review
Chair and Non Executive Directors
Total number of meetings
held in year

7

5

5
2

10

4

7

2

3

Chair
7/7

N/A

Member
2/5
2/2

Member
10/10

Member
4/4

N/A

Member
2/2

NA

Alan Russell
Non Executive Director
and Vice Chair

Member
7/7

N/A

N/A

Member
9/10
**

N/A

Chair
7/7

Member
1/2

N/A

Anne McPherson
Non Executive Director

Member
7/7

Member
3/5

Chair
5/5
2/2

Member
9/10

Chair
4/4

N/A

Member
2/2

N/A

Jeff Phillips
Non Executive Director

Member
7/7

Chair
5/5

Member
2/5
1/2

Member
7/10

Member
2/4

N/A

Member
1/2

Member
2/3

Dr Linda Sheridan
Non Executive Director

Member
7/7

N/A

Member
4/5
0/2

N/A

N/A

N/A

Member
2/2

Chair
3/3

Brenda Griffiths
Non Executive Director
Designate

NonVoting
Member
6/7

Associate
Member

N/A

Associate
Member

N/A

Associate
Member

Associate
Member

5/7

NonVoting
Member
2/2

David Law
Chief Executive

Member
7/7

N/A

N/A

Member
8/10

N/A

Member
5/7

Member
2/2

N/A

Barry Jenkins
Director of Finance
(until January 2015

Member
6/6

N/A

N/A

Member
8/8

N/A

Member
5/5

Member
2/2

Member
2/2

Phil Bradley
Interim Director of
Finance*

Member
1/1

N/A

N/A

Member
2/2

N/A

Member
1/2

Member
0/0

Member
0/0

Declan O’Farrell
Trust Chair

5/5

8/10

2/3

Executive Directors

* Substantive from
1 April 2015
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Trust
Audit Healthcare
Board Committee Governance
Committee

Strategy & Remuneration Foundation
Resources
Committee
Trust
Committee Committee

Charitable
Funds
Trustees

Charitable
Funds
Committee

Operational
Review
Executive Directors continued
Total number of meetings
held in year
Dr Caroline Allum
Medical Director

7

5

5
2

10

4

7

2

3

Member
7/7

N/A

Member
5/5

N/A

N/A

Member
2/7

Member
0/2

Member
1/3

0/2
Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality and
Governance/Chief Nurse

Member
7/7

N/A

Member
5/5
1/2

N/A

N/A

Member
5/7

N/A
2/2

N/A
1/3

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations

NonVoting
Member
7/7

N/A

Member
3/5
0/2

N/A

N/A

Member
1/7

N/A

N/A

Alison Shelley
Director of Human
Resources & Organisational
Development

NonVoting
Member
7/7

N/A

Member
2/5
0/2

Member
7/10

N/A

Member
7/7

N/A

N/A

With the exception of the Audit and Remuneration Committees, the Board committees operate
a policy of open attendance whereby executive and non-executive directors are welcome to
attend meetings of which they are not formal members. In addition, executive directors routinely
attend meetings of committees where they may not be formal members but where it is relevant
to their role. (eg Audit and Remuneration). The above table shows attendance for formal
members of a committee only.
As at 31 March 2015, the committees are supported as follows:
Trust Board:
Audit, Healthcare Governance, Strategy and
Resources and Foundation Trust Committees:
Remuneration Committee:
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Company Secretary
Board Support Officer
Director of HR and OD
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In 2014/15 the Healthcare Governance Committee was supported by Groups (which are
accountable to the Executive Team), with associated Forums as follows:
Group
Clinical Effectiveness

Associated Forums
Medicines Management
Clinical Effectiveness
Research & Development

Patient Safety & Experience

Safeguarding
Infection Control
Medical Devices
Mortality Review
Serious Incident Panel

The Healthcare Governance Committee monitors arrangements and seeks assurance on behalf
of the Board in respect of the quality and safety of services provided by the Trust. These include:
• Standing reports on incidents and complaints
• Clinical audit
• Quality Improvement Plan
• Quality priorities for each year (and action plan)
• Production and content of the Trust’s Quality Account
• CQUINS
• Clinical policies
• CQC registration compliance
• Control of Infection
• Safeguarding
• Response to external reports and initiatives
• Monitoring progress against relevant action plans
There were a number of Groups, which reported to the Executive Team. These were:
• Clinical Effectiveness
• Patient Safety and Experience
• Workforce and OD Strategy
• IM&T Strategy
• Capital Investment
• Emergency Planning & Resilience
• Health and Safety
• Information Governance
• Procurement Review
• Adult Services Delivery Model
• Children’s Services Delivery Model
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There is also a Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC), which comprises of managerial and staff
representatives and a Joint Local Negotiating Committee (JLNC), which is the equivalent for
medical staff.
All Committees and Groups operate within Terms of Reference which are approved by the
“parent” committee. The minutes of Board Committee meetings are received at Board meetings
and the Non Executive Chairs of each committee make a written and verbal assurance report on
the committee’s activities and bring any issues for the Board’s attention. This includes giving
assurances to the Board which are “RAG” rated. (Red/Amber/Green).
In 2012/13 the Board was subject to a detailed internal and external analysis of good governance
and effectiveness. Arising from this exercise it was agreed by the Board that independent external
review of Board governance would be undertaken every three years, with the next review in
2015/16. There was not therefore an in depth external governance review in 2014/15, although
the Trust was the first in the country to pilot a new model of Board appraisal (individual and
collective), which was devised by the NHS Leadership Academy.
All committees have a role in monitoring and assessing risk and mitigating actions being taken by
the Executive. Delegated responsibility for ensuring the robustness of risk systems and processes
rests with the Audit Committee.
Key items highlighted to the Board by the Audit Committee in 2014/15 were:
• Endorsement of the Trust’s Internal and External Audit Plans for 2015/16
• Recommendation to adopt the Annual Accounts, Annual Report, Annual Governance
Statement and Quality Account for 2013/14
• Consideration of the Head of Internal Audit’s (HOIA) Opinion and Annual Report
• External Audit Results Report, Letter of Representation to the External Auditor and the
External Auditor’s Annual Governance Letter
• Endorsement of the Annual Counter-Fraud Plan 2014/15 and receipt of progress reports
• Outcomes of regular review of the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) and High Level Risk
Register (HLRR)
• Receipt of progress reports from internal and external audit
• Consideration of Internal Audit Reports completed in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan
and compliance therewith. (With focus on “red rated” reports).
• Review of the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy
• Reviews of (i) losses and special payments and (ii) tender waivers
• The timetable for the production of the 2014/15 Annual Accounts, Annual Report, Annual
Governance Statement and Quality Account
• Embedding of clinical governance into the audit arena, including the clinical audit plan
• Approval of the Trust’s accounting policy
• Review of the Trust’s Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, Standing
Financial Instructions and Operational Scheme of Delegation
• Review of the Trust’s committee structure
• Review of the effectiveness of the internal auditors
• Informal reviews of Audit Committee meetings
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The Board complies with the HM Treasury/Cabinet Office Corporate Governance Code,
Corporate Governance in Central Government Departments: Code of Good Practice
(HM Treasury/Cabinet Office, July 2011) as it applies to NHS Trusts. This includes (i) annual
subscription by the Board members collectively and individually to uphold the seven “Nolan”
principles of public life: selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and
leadership and (ii) recognising the precepts of good corporate governance in business (Leadership,
Effectiveness, Accountability and Sustainability). The Board also re-subscribes annually to the
NHS Constitution, Code of Conduct, Code of Openness and Principles of Board Etiquette.
The Board receives a number of standing reports that act as assurances. These include a
monthly Integrated Board Performance Report, which covers the domains of patient safety,
quality, finance and workforce. These in turn underpin the Trust’s Strategy of delivering High
Value Healthcare (HVHC).
Progress against key performance indicators are also monitored, and this includes performance
against national targets as identified under the NHS Operating Framework and local targets as
identified by Herts Valleys CCG, East and North Herts CCG and Hertfordshire County Council
as the principal, local commissioners.
As part of the process of becoming a Foundation Trust, in 2012 the Board, based on the
recommendations of the then Foundation Trust Steering Group, approved and monitored key
requirements for the application process. This included mandatory strategies, an Integrated
Business Plan (which includes a Long Term Financial Model (LTFM), FT Constitution and a
requirement to meet a minimum score in a Quality Governance Framework (QGF). These have
all been updated in 2014/15 and continue to be refreshed throughout 2015/16 in readiness for
resubmission to the TDA.
As of 31 March 2015, progress on the Trust's FT application is pending the outcome of a full
inspection visit by the CQC, which took place in February 2015. A minimum of a “Good” rating
from this inspection is a required stage prior to referral onwards to Monitor by the TDA.
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REPORTING TO THE NHS TRUST DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
During 2014/15, the Trust reported to the NHS Trust Development Authority (TDA), which
oversees and monitors the performance of NHS Trusts and manages the Foundation Trust
application process prior to onward referral to Monitor, which licences Foundation Trusts.
The process involved regular Integrated Delivery Meetings and submission of a detailed annual
plan and assurance submissions mirroring Monitor’s Licencing conditions for Foundation Trusts.
The Trust makes two formal monthly submissions, covering self-assessed compliance with 14
“Board Statements” (which covers Clinical Quality, Finance and Governance arrangements) and
12 of Monitor’s (Licencing) Conditions.
On 31 March 2015, the Trust was compliant with all Board Statements and Conditions.
Based on the submissions and other data, the TDA collates a performance summary in respect
of the Trust and monthly meetings are held with the Trust’s Executive Team (Integrated Delivery
Meetings) to:
• Clarify HCT’s performance (financial, operational and quality)
• Assess future plans and
• Agree the Trust’s Foundation Trust application timeline
As at March 2015, the Trust continues to be considered low risk by the TDA and was ranked
with a score of 4 under the TDAs Oversight/Escalation Framework. (ie Defined as “Standard
Oversight” with no interventions likely at this level of escalation, but standard NHS TDA
oversight processes continue”).
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RISK ASSESSMENT
Risks to the achievement of the Trust’s strategic objectives are identified by the Executive Team
and entered on the Board Assurance Framework (BAF). The BAF sets out:
1 The risk and the strategic objective it relates to
2 Lead Director responsibility
3 Controls in place
4 Assurances (external and internal)
5 Actions (And timescales) required to mitigate the risk
6 Progress on actions
7 Scoring based on a 5 x 5 matrix, which measures likelihood of the risk occurring x consequences,
should the risk materialise. Scores are identified as (a) an initial risk score (i.e. assuming no
controls or assurances are in place), (b) a current risk score and (c) a residual risk score, which
is the level which once achieved represents the level at which the Board considers the risk
acceptable or no further mitigation or control is reasonably practicable. At this point a risk is
removed from the Framework and entered on an archive.
The BAF is submitted for review and discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board.
Clinical risks are also considered by the Healthcare Governance Committee.
Risks identified at Business Unit Level are entered on Business Unit Risk Registers. Risks scoring
15 or over, are then recorded on a High Level Risk Register (HLRR). Both of these follow the same
model and content as the BAF.
The HLRR is considered monthly by the Executive Team and is submitted to the Healthcare
Governance Committee, Audit Committee and the Board meeting in public.
Risks on the HLRR that are considered by the Executive Team to have a strategic impact are
escalated to the Board Assurance Framework.
The strategic risks on the BAF and the risk scores as at 31 March 2015 were as over.
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Strategic risks
Ref 11/13 (1)
Operating in a highly competitive market environment where reputation,
quality and misalignment of strategic intentions may lead to loss of
existing HCT business or failure to secure new business resulting in the
Trust becoming unsustainable and unable to deliver High Value Healthcare.
Ref 11/13 (2)
The safety, experience and clinical outcomes of care for patients may
fall below the Trust’s expected standards whereby quality of care is
compromised to an extent which results in harm to patients, poor
public reputation, punitive regulatory action and failure to deliver
High Value Healthcare.
Ref 11/13 (3)
Failure to understand and manage the Trust's resources (finance,
workforce and estate) may result in ineffective and inefficient use of
resources resulting in the Trust becoming unsustainable and unable
to deliver High Value Healthcare.
Ref 11/13 (4)
External factors* beyond HCT's control may impact detrimentally
on the Trust, resulting in the Trust becoming unsustainable and unable
to deliver High Value Healthcare.

Consequences
x likelihood

Current score
31/03/13

5x2

10

4x3

12

3x3

9

3x3

9

4x3

12

* Sociological, Technological, Economic, Environmental, Political, Legal,
Ethical, Demographic (“STEEPLED”)
Ref 11/13 (5)
The organisational development programme of the Trust does not
develop the capacity and capability required to deliver the Trust's strategy
and may lead to failure in delivering essential elements of the Strategic
Implementation Plan to required timescales, resulting in adverse impact on
staff engagement, development of services and the reputation of the Trust,
which in turn impacts on HCT's ability to deliver High Value Healthcare.
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INFORMATION GOVERNANCE RISKS
The Trust is registered as a Data Controller with the Information Commissioner.
During 2014/15, the Trust had one lapse of data security that was logged and investigated as a
serious incident (compared to 10 in 2013/14 and 11 in 2012/13). This incident was reported to
commissioners, but individuals affected were not advised due to the number involved (1,100).
Details are as follows:
Approximately 30 boxes of paper clinical notes for Children’s Universal Services were waiting to
be archived. They had been stored in an office area within the Minor Injuries Unit at the Herts
and Essex Hospital. A pipe from the floor above was found to have been leaking and the paper
records had been absorbing both water and leaking waste matter. Approximately 1100 records
had been damaged (and were subsequently destroyed). Whilst these are archived records and
the number of notes lost was deemed significant, care delivered to children has not been affected
as relevant information had been transferred to an electronic records system.
The lapse did not qualify for reporting to the Information Commissioner under the formula
identified in the Guidance for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information Governance
Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation, published by the Health & Social Care Information
Centre (HSCIC).
All information governance incidents are taken seriously and advice is taken as appropriate from
the Medical Director, as Caldicott Guardian, and/or the Director of Finance, as Senior Information
Risk Owner (SIRO). Incidents are fully investigated, remedial action is taken and lessons learned
are applied across the organisation.
The Trust’s Information Governance Group, which includes the SIRO and Caldicott Guardian,
reviews all data security incidents. Changes in practice have been made in some cases to minimise
the risk of repetition, a standard operating procedure has been adopted across the Trust for the
handling and processing of correspondence that includes Personal Identifiable Information.
Information Governance policies have been updated during the year to meet the requirements
of Level 2 of the NHS Information Governance Toolkit.
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THE RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK
The Trust has a Board approved risk Management strategy in place, which identifies actions for
developing risk management systems and processes. The strategy was reviewed and updated in
2014/15. The Strategy includes a risk escalation process and also defines the Trust’s “Risk Appetite”
as being:
“The Trust recognises that it is operating in a competitive healthcare market where safety, quality
and viability are paramount and are of mutual benefit to service users, stakeholders and the
organisation alike. Consequently, and subject to controls and assurances being in place, the Trust
will generally accept manageable risks which are innovative and which predict clearly identifiable
benefits, but not those where the risk of harm or adverse outcomes to service users, the Trust’s
business viability or reputation is significantly high and may outweigh any benefits to be gained”.
The risk management strategy is underpinned by a risk management policy. It is supported by
various policies and procedures pertinent to risk and covering a range of areas associated with
the Trust’s functions. These include, for example, risk assessment, information governance,
health & safety (including fire safety), counter-fraud, security, clinical practice, incident reporting
and management, financial procedures and emergency preparedness.
The principal aim of the risk management strategy is “for the Board, Executive Directors and all
staff to have understanding and ownership of and commitment to, the control and management
of all reasonably foreseeable risks that may arise within the context of the Trust’s activities”.
Under the policy on risk management, identification and management of risk is also promoted as
being “everyone’s business” and not just an issue for managers. Staff are, therefore, encouraged
to identify and address risks and, if necessary, to submit them for inclusion on their Business
Unit’s Risk Register.
Following identification and scoring of risks (See Risk Assessment above), risks are recorded on
the relevant risk register (Board Assurance Framework, High Level Risk Register or Business Unit
risk register). Controls and Assurances are also identified and recorded.
Controls are measures in place to mitigate the risk from its original score, which is that which
applies if there were no controls in place.
Assurances are sub-divided between internal assurances and external assurances. The former
may include, for example, standing reports, minutes of meetings where a risk-related issue is
discussed and internal audit reports, which identify areas of weakness and make appropriate
recommendations. External assurances are independent sources, such as external audit, inspection
or assessment reports from regulatory bodies or commissioners with which the Trust has contracts.
Assurances are monitored and fed through to the Board through the Committee structure
outlined in The governance framework of the organisation (above). More detail on individual
committee roles is also given in Review of Effectiveness below.
Gaps in controls and assurances are recorded, along with actions required to mitigate the gaps.
These are accorded a timescale for completion and progress is reported.
The management of risks is delegated to a named director in the case of strategic risks, general
manager/deputy director level in the case of High Level risks and service manager or equivalent
in the case of risks recorded in Business Unit Risk Registers.
Lessons learned from risks which materialise plus sources such as complaints, claims, incidents and
internal or external reports highlighting any areas of weakness are shared throughout the organisation.
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REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control. My review is informed in a number of ways. The Head of Internal Audit
provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance through the
Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of Internal Audit’s work.
The Head of Internal Audit has reported for 2014/15 that:
Our opinion is based on our assessment of whether the controls in place support the achievement
of management's objectives as set out in our Individual Assignment Reports.
Improvement required: We have completed the programme of internal audit work for the
year ended 31 March 2015. Our work to date has identified advisory, low and moderate rated
findings. No critical or high rated findings have been identified.
Based on the work we have completed, we believe that there is some risk that management's
objectives may not be fully achieved. Some improvements are required in those areas to enhance
the adequacy and/or effectiveness of governance, risk management and control.
The key factors that contributed to our opinion were the medium risk reports in relation to BAF
and Risk Management, Data Quality and Key Financial Controls as well as the issues identified
in the Wheelchair Services Contract Governance review.
Opinion Criteria
Type of opinion

Indication of when this type of opinion may be given

Adequate and
effective

• Generally only low risk rated weaknesses found in individual assignments; and
• None of the individual assignment reports have an overall report classification of either
high or critical risk

Improvement
required

• Medium risk rated weaknesses identified in individual assignments that are not
significant in aggregate to the system of internal control; and/or
• High risk rated weaknesses identified in individual assignments that are isolated to
specific systems or processes; and
• None of the individual assignment reports have an overall classification of critical risk

Major
improvement
required

• Medium risk rated weaknesses identified in individual assignments that are significant
in aggregate but discrete parts of the system of internal control remain unaffected;
and/or
• High risk rated weaknesses identified in individual assignments that are significant in
aggregate but discrete parts of the system of internal control remain unaffected; and/or
• Critical risk rated weaknesses identified in individual assignments that are not pervasive
to the system of internal control; and
• A minority of the individual assignment reports may have an overall report classification
of either high or critical risk

Unsatisfactory

• High risk rated weaknesses identified in individual assignments that in aggregate are
pervasive to the system of internal control; and/or
• Critical risk rated weaknesses identified in individual assignments that are pervasive to
the system of internal control; and/or
• More than a minority of the individual assignment reports have an overall report
classification of either high or critical risk.
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Executive managers within the organisation who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control also provide me with assurance. The Assurance
Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage the
risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed. My review is also
informed by:
• Internal Audit Reports and the Head of Internal Audit's opinion
• External Audit
• Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration requirements and outcomes
• CQC inspection reports
• The Trust’s monthly, Integrated Business Performance Report
• Business Unit Performance Reports
• Minutes and papers of the Trust Board, Board Committees and Sub-Committees.
(Including reports from executive directors as standing items)
• Reports from the Local Counter-Fraud Specialist
• Performance submissions to, and regular meetings with, the NHS Trust Development Authority
• Quality and contract review meetings with commissioners
• Board and Executive site visits and “deep dives” into services
• NHS “Information Governance Toolkit” compliance
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Audit Committee, Healthcare Governance Committee (and its
sub-committees), Strategy & Resources Committee, Foundation Trust Committee and the
Executive Team.
The following have a role in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control:
The Board
The Board has been actively involved in developing and reviewing the Trust’s risk management
processes including receiving and reviewing minutes and Chair’s observations from the Audit
Committee, Healthcare Governance Committee, Strategy and Resources Committee and the
Foundation Trust Committee. The Board also reviews the Board Assurance Framework, High
Level Risk Register Integrated Performance reports and Quality reports.
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has been a directing force in relation to reviewing the framework of
internal control particularly with regard to corporate risk, the Assurance Framework, the High
Level Risk Register and counter fraud.
The Healthcare Governance Committee
The Healthcare Governance Committee is responsible for the governance and management of
clinical risk, including ensuring compliance with regulatory standards and requirements,
adoption of clinical policies and review of clinical aspects of performance, including incidents
and complaints. The Committee was also supported in its work by two Groups, as identified
under “The Governance Framework of the Organisation” above. The Committee also (I)
provides assurance to the Board in respect of patient safety, quality of services and patient
experience and (ii) seeks assurance as to the assessment of the quality impacts of cost
improvement schemes.
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The Strategy and Resources Committee
The Strategy and Resources Committee is made up of the majority of the members of the Board
and meets monthly. The remit of the Committee is to scrutinise current financial performance
and future financial plans; review financial, workforce and business risks; monitor that decisions
involving finance, resources and assets are properly made to promote good financial practice
throughout the Trust and to receive assurances that an integrated and holistic approach is taken
to the use of all the Trust's resources for the delivery of Trust strategy.
The Information Governance Group
The Information Governance Group reports to the Executive Team and is responsible for
the governance and management of information associated risk and compliance with the
NHS Information Governance Toolkit.
The Foundation Trust Committee
As part of its remit, the Foundation Trust Committee considers and escalates risks that are
identified as part of the Trust’s process of application to become a NHS Foundation Trust.
The Executive Team
The Executive Team operationally manages all areas of risk, including the risk and control
framework. The Executive also populates and reviews the Board Assurance Framework and
reviews the High Level Risk Register.
Executive Directors ensure that key risks have been highlighted and monitored within their
directorates and the necessary action has been taken to address them.
Internal Audit
Internal Audit has reviewed and reported upon control, governance and risk management
processes, based on an audit plan approved by the Audit Committee and endorsed by the Board.
Where scope for improvement was found, recommendations were made and appropriate action
plans agreed with management.
As noted, the Board Assurance Framework identifies gaps in control and gaps in assurance in
relation to the Trust’s principal risks and the actions being taken to address them.
My review confirms that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has a generally sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives.
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Significant issues
1 As reported in my Governance Statements for 2012/13 and 2013/14, in September 2012, a
patient fell from a 1st floor window in Potters Bar Community Hospital and died two days later.
It was established that the window restrictor did not operate to the prescribed maximum
opening width. (Ownership of the site and provision of the estates and facilities service at
that time were with the then Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust).
The matter has been subject to investigation by the Health and Safety Executive and the
Coroner’s inquest was held in February 2015. The inquest returned a verdict of accidental
death and the Coroner has not made a Prevention of Future Deaths report.
2 Following an accident to a member of staff in October 2014, the Trust was ascertained as
being in breach of the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 and in
February 2015, the Trust received an improvement notice from the Health and Safety Executive.
This requires the Trust to:
1 Draft a suitable and sufficient bariatric policy/risk assessment and
2 Make arrangements to implement necessary controls such as procedures, training and
equipment that have been identified in the bariatric policy/risk assessment.
Actions are in place to comply with the notice in advance of the deadline for compliance of
5 June 2015.
3 In February 2015, The Trust received an OFSTED report in respect of Duckling Green Children’s
Centre, Sawbridgeworth. The Centre was managed at the material time by the Trust on behalf
of Hertfordshire County Council. The Report was graded 3 (Requires Improvement) across the
three assessed domains of access to services by young children and families, The quality of
practice and services and The effectiveness of leadership, governance and management.
An Action Plan was devised in response and implementation commenced prior to transfer
of the Centre to a new provider from 1 April 2015.

Signed:

Date:

David Law
Chief Executive Officer
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Independent auditor’s report to the Directors of
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
We have audited the financial statements of
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust for the
year ended 31 March 2015 under the Audit
Commission Act 1998 (as saved transitionally
for the purposes of the 2014/15 audit of accounts).
The financial statements comprise the Trust Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Trust
Statement of Financial Position, the Trust Statement of Changes in Taxpayers ' Equity, the Trust
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 30. The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by
the Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service
in England.
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being:
• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes on
pages 76-78;
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on
pages 79-80; and
• the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 75
This report is made solely to the Board of Directors of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust in
accordance with Part 11 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set
out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published
by the Audit Commission in March 2014. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Directors, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in respect of the
Accounts, set out on page 84, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to
audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards also require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement , whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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In addition we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust as at
31 March 2015 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
• have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the
Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service
in England
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
• the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in
accordance with the requirements directed by the Secretary of State with the consent of the
Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service in England; and
• the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements
Matters on which we report by exception
We report to you if:
• in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the NHS Trust Development
Authority 's Guidance;
• we refer the matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission Act
1998 because we have reason to believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is about to
make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has
taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998
We have nothing to report in these respects.

Conclusion on the Trust's arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
Respective responsibilities of the Trust and auditors
The Trust is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to
review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the
Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to
report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements, having regard to relevant criteria
specified by the Audit Commission in October 2014.
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Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard
to the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in October 2014 ,
as to whether the Trust has proper arrangements for:
• securing financial resilience; and
• challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness
The Audit Commission determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider
under its Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the
year ended 31 March 2015.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether,
in all significant respects, the Trust had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published
by the Audit Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects,
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust put in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2015.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit
Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Signed:
Rob Murray
for and on behalf of Ernest & Young LLP
Cambridge
3 June 2013
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2015
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Statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2015

The notes on pages 108 to 145 form part of this account.

The financial statements on pages 104 to 107 were approved by the Board on 3rd June 2015
and signed on its behalf by
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Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity
for the year ended 31 March 2015
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2015
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Becoming a member of the Trust

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) is in
the process of applying to become a Foundation
Trust (FT). The timeline by which this may be
achieved is currently uncertain but we are
estimating that we will become a Foundation
Trust at some point during 2016/2017.
Foundation Trusts are NHS Trusts that are given
freedom from the controls of Government to
develop services to suit the needs of their local
community and commissioners. By becoming
a Foundation Trust we can become more
accountable to local people and staff through
developing our membership and through having
an elected Council of Governors which will
work closely with the Trust’s Board of Directors
to influence decision making and planning.

Foundation Trusts are authorised, licensed
and regulated by Monitor, the independent
regulator of foundation trusts.

As not for profit public benefit corporations,
foundation trusts are still firmly part of the
National Health Service family and subject to
NHS Quality standards, performance ratings
and systems of inspection.

• staff members

Who can become a member?
Members are divided into two categories or
“constituencies”:
• public members
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Public members

Staff members

As a general rule, anyone over the age of
14 can become a member and you must be
ordinarily resident in England or Wales.

All staff of the Trust automatically become
members of the Foundation Trust, although they
can opt out of membership if they so wish.1

Although most of our members come from
Hertfordshire, where the bulk of our services
are provided, there is also a constituency for
people in the rest of England and Wales.

In addition to employees, people who provide
services to the Trust for at least a year may
also become staff members, even though not
directly employed by the Trust.

There are however some exclusions from
being able to become a member or whereby
membership might be terminated.

People working for the Trust but not meeting
the above criteria are encouraged to become
public members. This may include e.g. volunteers
or bank and agency staff. This also applies to
former employees.

These are if:
• in the five years preceding the date of his
application or invitation to become a
Member, they have demonstrated aggressive
or violent behaviour at any Trust Premises or
against the Trust's employees, volunteers or
other persons who exercise functions for the
purposes of the Trust whether or not in
circumstances leading to their removal or
exclusion from any Trust Premises;
• they have been confirmed as a ‘vexatious
complainant’ in accordance with the NHS
Trust or (as the case may be) the Trust policy
for handling complaints;

The benefits of membership and exclusion
criteria are broadly the same as for public
members.
1

Staff who wish to opt out of membership are
advised to email:
CommunityFT@hchs.nhs.uk

The email must give details of name, role and
employee number. We will then validate that
the communication is actually genuine before
terminating membership.

• they have within the preceding five years
been removed as a member from another
NHS foundation trust;
• they have been deemed to have acted in a
manner contrary to the interests of the NHS
Trust or (as the case may be) the Trust;
• they fail or cease to fulfil the criteria for
membership of the Public Constituency or
the Staff Constituency; or
• in the case the Public Constituency, the
individual’s principal place of residence is not
within England or Wales
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What are the benefits of membership and
how much does it cost?
Membership is free and benefits of
membership include:
• voting in elections to elect public/staff for
the Council of Governors
• standing for election to become a public/staff
governor
• serving on working groups or project teams
and join special interest groups
• taking part in seminars and workshops

• learning more about how to improve your
own health and take part in health
promotion campaigns in the community
• becoming more informed in the work of the
Trust and promote the work of the Trust in
the local community
NB Members of a foundation trust do not
receive any privileges or special treatment,
either through employment or in the health
care they receive. Similarly, membership of
HCT FT will not limit treatment or access to
services with other NHS providers.

• attending an Annual Members’ Meeting
How long does my membership last?
• finding out more about the work of the
Trust through events and updates
• receiving a members’ newsletter

There is no annual membership renewal
required. Your membership lasts for life or
unless or until you cease to qualify as a member.

• giving your views on services and the Trust’s
plans for the future, both in informal
discussions and through surveys and formal
consultation events
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How do I join as a member?
An application form is attached.
Alternatively, you can join via our website at:
www.hertschs.nhs.uk
or, you can email us or write to us at the address
below and we will send you a membership
form (or multiple membership forms should
you require them for friends or colleagues):
CommunityFT@hchs.nhs.uk

Can I recruit friends or members of
my family?
We welcome and encourage members to
recruit new members, provided that the
members so recruited fulfil the criteria for
membership.
How can I find out more or what if I
want to stand for election to the Council
of Governors?

FT Members and Governors
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Unit 1A Howard Court
14 Tewin Road
Welwyn Garden City
AL7 1BW

Please see the following section on
Becoming a Public or Staff Governor of the
Foundation Trust.

How much time do I have to put in?

Over and above information in this
Annual Report, please go to our website:
www.hertschs.nhs.uk
for more information about the Trust.

We aim to have an engaged and active
membership, although how much time a
member puts in, is totally at the member’s
discretion. For example, you may just wish to
be a “passive member” and receive information
from time to time or you may wish to become
much more involved, for example by standing
for election as a governor.

How can I find out more about HCT or
about foundation trusts generally?

There is also some helpful information on
foundation trusts generally on Monitor’s
website at:
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk

Is there any provision for corporate
membership?
There is no provision for organisations or
corporate bodies to join as a “single” member.
However, we encourage membership from
individuals within organisations that may
have an interest.
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What is The Council of Governors?

Who will be on Council of Governors?

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT)
is in the process of applying to become a
Foundation Trust (FT). The timeline by which
this may be achieved is currently uncertain on
account of national transitional arrangements,
but we are estimating that we will become a
Foundation Trust at some point during 2016/17.

HCT’s Council of Governors will have 20
governors in total. Public and staff governors
are elected from the membership of the
Foundation Trust and some other governors
are nominated. The elected governors are
divided into “constituencies” representing the
public and staff respectively. The Council of
Governors for HCT will be as shown in the
table below.

In addition to having a Board of Directors, all
foundation trusts have a Council of Governors
(CoG) which undertakes roles set out both by
law and by local agreement.
The Council of Governors will be fundamental
to the way the foundation trust will work and
it will work alongside the Board of Directors
to help shape the services we provide in line
with the needs of the community and the
organisations which commission services
from us.
Details of the role are given under What is the
role of Governors? overleaf.
Elected Governors

Numbers
Public Governors representing West Hertfordshire

5

Public Governors representing East & North Hertfordshire

5

Public Governor representing the rest of England and Wales

1

Staff Governors
Nursing, Health Visitors and Healthcare Assistants

2

Allied Health Professionals and Therapy Assistants

1

Other Staff (including administrative, managerial, medical, dental, scientific and technical)

1

Nominated Governors
Appointed by Hertfordshire County Council (one governor to represent Health & Social Care
Services and one to represent Children’s Services)

2

Healthcare professional representing Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group

1

Healthcare professional representing East & North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

1

Hertfordshire Healthwatch

1
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What is the role of governors?
Governors ensure that the interests of the
community served by the Trust are appropriately
represented and that the values of the Trust
are upheld. More specifically, the role of the
Council of Governors includes:
• advising on the strategic direction of the Trust
• being consulted on the developments of the
forward plans of The Foundation Trust and
any significant changes to the health care
provided by the Trust
• representing the views of the Trust’s
membership
• taking part in working groups or special
interest groups
• acting as ambassadors with local communities
• appointing or removing the Chairman and
other Non-Executive Directors

In addition, the Council will have other roles,
such as leading on the Trust’s membership
strategy. Following the publication of the
Francis Report, it is also likely that governors
will have a role on monitoring aspects of the
quality of the Trust’s services. The Council may
wish to set up a number of working groups
to support its role.
Are there any expectations from the Trust
for governors?
In undertaking their role, governors will
have to:
• attend Council of Governor meetings and
an Annual Members Day
• attend relevant induction and training
sessions identified by the trust
• sign a Code of Conduct
• complete a Declaration of Interests form

• approving the appointment of the Chief
Executive if this is necessary.
• appointing (and removing) the external
auditor

• act in the best interests of the Trust
• work within the policies of the Trust
• comply with all reasonable requests

• deciding on the remuneration of the
Non-Executive Directors
• receiving the Trust’s annual accounts,
auditor’s report and annual report at the
Annual Members Meeting
• holding the Board of Directors to account
• agreeing to any changes in the constitution
of the trust
• agreeing to any mergers or acquisitions
defined in the constitution as “significant”
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Do I get paid for being a governor and
what is the amount of time I might be
expected to give to the role?
Governors are not paid, but may claim expenses.
The role and duties are very important and
Governors should expect to devote about 2
days a month to the role.
The majority of training and meetings will
take place during the day or early evening but
Governors may also occasionally be asked to
attend evening or week-end events in support
of the trust. To encourage engagement with
local communities, meetings may also be held
in a variety of locations across Hertfordshire
and occasionally outside the county as well.
Who can stand for election as a governor?
To stand for election as a public or staff
governor:
• be a member of the Trust in the constituency
for which you intend to stand for election

There are other circumstances under which
someone cannot stand for election or remain
a governor if elected. These are set out in the
Constitution for the FT and will be explained
in full in pre-election literature. This includes,
for example, people who are subject of a sex
offenders order or who have been disbarred
from being a director under the Company
Directors Disqualification Act 1986.
All employees of the Trust are members of the
Foundation Trust by default (and thereby part
of the staff constituency), although they may
choose to opt out of membership. People who
provide services to the Trust for at least a year,
may also become staff members, even though
not directly employed by the Trust.
Any staff member may stand for election as a
staff governor, but prospective staff governors
should note that this role is not a vehicle for
raising issues about terms and conditions of
employment, as this is done through the
Trades Unions and the Joint Negotiating
Committee (JNC).

• you must be at least 16 years old (There is
no upper age limit)
• you cannot be a director, governor, chair or
non-executive director of another health
service body.
• you must not have been a director of the
Trust in the 12 months preceding
nomination or have been dismissed by the
Trust within the preceding five years, other
than through reason of redundancy or ill
health
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How and when are the elections
carried out?
Elections will be conducted by an independent
election services provider and will be carried
out in accordance with Department of Health
Model Election Rules which are incorporated
into the Trust’s constitution. All elections will
be on a single transferable vote basis, rather
than First past the post.
Elections will be held soon after the Trust moves
into the application phase of being assessed
by Monitor (The independent regulator of
Foundation Trusts). This is before authorisation
as a Foundation Trust and it means that a
shadow Council of Governors will be in place to
commence work as a fully constituted Council
as soon as authorisation takes effect.
Because of current uncertainty with the
overall timescale for the FT application, it is
not possible to say at the moment exactly
when the elections will be held.
What happens after the elections?
After results are announced and the successful
candidates are known, a shadow Council of
Governors will come into existence. There will
also be a programme of induction and
development for the newly elected governors.
The Trust is also keen not to lose sight of
unsuccessful candidates, as people unsuccessful
in initial elections may be governors of the
future or wish to support the work of the
Trust in other ways.
If elected, how long would my term of
office be?
Based on the number of votes received,
public governors elected following the first
elections will be in post for either three years
or two years. (This is to ensure continuity so
that not all governors change at the same
time). Staff governors will be in post for up to
a maximum for three years. (Governors can
stand for re-election for one additional period
of office if they so wish).
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Where can I find out more Information?
More information on governors and standing
for election will be included periodically in the
Memo to Members. Information will also be
posted from time to time on the Trust’s website.
This will include Frequently Asked Questions
(FAQs). Our website address is:
www.hertschs.nhs.uk
(Please also see our website if you are not a
member and would like to join. Membership
is free and the extent of involvement you
then have with the Trust and its work is at
your discretion).
There is also information on governors generally
and their role, on Monitor’s website at:
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk
If I might be Interested in standing for election
as a governor, what do I do now?
You do not need to do anything, but if you
may be interested in standing for election as a
governor in due course and would like us to
alert you nearer the time of the election process,
please send an email to register your interest to:
CommunityFT@hchs.nhs.uk
If you have any specific questions at this stage
which are not answered in this information
sheet, please also send an email to this address
and we will reply to you as soon as we can.
Alternatively, to express an interest or raise
any questions, you can write to us at:
FT Members and Governors
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Unit 1A Howard Court
14 Tewin Road
Welwyn Garden City
AL7 1BW
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Membership form
✃

Join us!
✃
✃

Membership Form
✃
✃
✃
✃
✃
Please return to (no stamp needed):
Freepost Plus RSKT-TURY-ERZJ, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust,
Howard Court, 14 Tewin Road, Welwyn Garden City AL7 1BW

✃
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This form is being handled for membership purposes only
and in accordance with the Data Protection Act.

✃

Your signature

✃

✃

✃

✃

✃

✃

✃

Membership form

✃

Please return to (no stamp needed):
Freepost Plus RSKT-TURY-ERZJ, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust,
Howard Court, 14 Tewin Road, Welwyn Garden City AL7 1BW
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Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Unit 1a Howard Court
14 Tewin Road
Welwyn Garden City
Hertfordshire
AL7 1BW
Telephone: 01707 388000
Fax: 01707 321840
Email: communications@hchs.nhs.uk
Web: www.hertschs.nhs.uk

